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BIAS Balanced Fund

Invests in a mixture of money market, fixed income, and equity
securities providing outperformance through strategic and
tactical asset class shifts. Weightings are determined by the
expected returns and risks within each asset class.

Suitable for conservative to moderate investors who seek
medium to long-term real capital appreciation whilst minimizing
risk through asset class diversification.

LOWER           HIGHER

BIAS Short Duration Income Fund

Invests in high quality money market and short duration
income producing instruments denominated primarily in US
dollars which offer liquidity, low risk, and attractive returns.

Suitable for captive insurers and those with a very low risk
tolerance or a short time horizon.

Listed on the Cayman Islands Stock Exchange and licensed by the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority to conduct Investment Business. Listed on the Bermuda Stock Exchange. For more information on any of our Funds, 
contact your investment advisor or download a prospectus, which contains important information about a Fund’s investment goals, sales charges, expenses and risks. Please read the prospectus carefully before investing.

LOWER           HIGHER

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

BIAS Equities Fund 
 
 
 
 
 

Maximize long-term capital appreciation via a diverse mix of
global securities. Strategic allocations are made in various
geographic, sector, style, and market capitalizations to exploit
long term trends and minimze risk.

Suitable for investors with a higher tolerance for risk and a
long time horizon.

BIAS Dividend Income Fund

Securities owned are primarily common stocks with a history
of raising dividends annually for at least five years. Such a
strategy has provided higher returns with lower volatility than
a broad large cap equity index over the long term.

Suitable for investors understand market risk with a long time
horizon and an income objective.

LOWER           HIGHER

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LOWER           HIGHER

www.biasglobalportfolios.com 

Cash 5.5%
Fixed Income   33.0%
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
SHORT DURATION INCOME FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

Robert R. Pires
Chairman
BIAS Global Portfolios SPC
BIAS Short Duration Income Fund  – US$ Segregated Portfolio
June 20, 2017

INVESTMENT POLICY
The objective of the Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”) is to offer a convenient and efficient vehicle for investing in high quality 
money market and short duration income producing instruments denominated mainly in US dollars which offer liquidity, low 
risk and attractive returns consistent with prudent investment management.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
We are pleased to present the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Fund for the year ended December 31, 2016. 
The net asset value per share of the Fund increased from $111.11 as at December 31st 2015 to $111.60 as at December 
31st 2016 representing a total return after fees of 0.44% for the 2016 calendar year. The net asset value of the Fund 
increased during the year to $9.7 million as at 31st December 2016 from $8.4 million at the beginning of the year. BIAS 
Asset Management Ltd. (the “Manager”) ensured that the Fund maintained adequate liquidity through holding a substantial 
portion of the Fund’s assets in highly liquid US Treasury securities.

ANNUAL REVIEW
Bond yields in the US and other Developed Markets fell in the First Half of 2016 as global growth estimates were revised 
lower and Britain unexpectedly voted to leave the EU. In the financial turmoil that followed in the weeks after Brexit, previous 
expectations of a Fed interest rate hike in September were erased. Treasury yields rose sharply in the Fourth Quarter on 
expectations president-elect Donald Trump’s policies would boost economic growth and inflation and spur the Fed to 
speed up interest-rate increases. At the time of the election the Fund held Treasuries maturing in 3-to-5 years, which sold 
off more than shorter-dated bonds, and resulted in the Fund falling behind the benchmark for the year. In December the 
Fed raised interest rates for just the second time since the financial crisis citing steady growth in employment and other 
economic improvements. We reduced the Fund’s overall duration in the Fourth Quarter and sold longer-maturity Treasuries 
and added floating rate notes (FRNs). The corporate bonds held in the Fund had a shorter duration relative to the Fund’s 
Treasury holdings as we chose to hold the corporate bonds until maturity as pricing was volatile due to poor liquidity.
 
OUTLOOK
As we begin 2017, we believe the Fund is well positioned as 30 percent of the portfolio is invested in floating rate notes. We 
expect a modest increase in Treasury yields in 2017 driven by improving economic data in the US and gradual interest rate 
hikes by the Fed. For this reason, we hold Treasuries maturing in one-to-three years for liquidity, shorter-dated corporate 
bonds for a yield pick-up over Treasuries, and FRNs (that offer gradually better yields as interest rates rise and coupons 
reset).

The balance sheets of many US companies are very strong and debt issued by these companies provides better yields 
relative to US Treasuries. We expect corporate bonds to outperform government bonds longer term, however, price 
volatility may be high due to lack of liquidity.
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC

Short Duration Income Fund
As of December 31, 2016

A convenient and efficient vehicle for investing in high quality money market and short duration income-producing  
securities, denominated primarily in US dollars which offer liquidity, low risk, and attractive returns consistent with prudent 
investment management.

Suitable for those with a very low risk tolerance or short term time horizon.
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AA-
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A
A- 
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21%
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Fund Information

 

 

 

 

Inception Date

Base Currency

Benchmark

NAV per share

Subscriptions/Redemptions

Management Fee

 December 29, 2006

USD

Citigroup 1-3 yr Treasury Index

$111.60

Weekly

0.15%

Key Statistics

 

 

 

 

Modified Duration

Average Credit

Gross YTW

Gross Current Yield

Number of Holdings

AUM

1.22

AA-

1.56%

2.99%

28

$9,655,397

Top Holdings

 

 

 

 

US Treasury Note 3.625%

US Treasury Note 3.375% 

US Treasury Note 3.750%

US Treasury Note 3.125% 

General Elec Cap Corp FRN (LIBOR + 1.00%)

AT&T INC 2.375% 

Caterpillar Fin Serv Corp. 7.05%

McDonald's Corp. 5.00%

J P Morgan Chase & Co. 6.00%

Oracle Corp 5.75%

Due 15 Aug 2019

Due 15 Nov 2019

Due 15 Nov 2018

Due 15 May 2019

Due 15 Mar 2023

Due 27 Nov 2018

Due 01 Oct 2018

Due 01 Feb 2019

Due 15 Jan 2018

Due 15 Apr 2018

5.55%  

5.48%  

5.44%  

5.41%  

5.27%  

5.23%  

2.87%  

2.80%  

2.77%  

2.76%  
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KPMG 
P.O. Box 493 
Century Yard, Cricket Square 
Grand Cayman KY1-1106 
Cayman Islands 
Telephone +1 345 949 4800 
Fax   +1 345 949 7164 
Internet www.kpmg.ky 

KPMG, a Cayman Islands partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International 
Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
Document classification: KPMG Confidential 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of: 
BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC – BIAS Short Duration Income Fund – US$ 
Segregated Portfolio

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC – BIAS Short 
Duration Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, 
comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Fund as at December 31, 2016, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the 
Fund in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board of Accountants Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  The key 
audit matters identified for the audit of the Fund are as detailed on the following page: 
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Page 2 of 3 

Existence and valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Refer to the accounting policies and financial disclosures in the notes to the financial 
statements.   

Description of the key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our 
audit 

The Fund’s debt investment portfolio makes 
up 88% of total assets (by value) and is 
considered to be the key driver of the 
Fund’s capital and revenue performance. 
We do not consider these investments to be 
at high risk of significant misstatement, or to 
be subject to a significant level of judgment, 
because they comprise liquid, quoted 
investments that are held by third party 
custodians. However, due to their 
materiality in the context of the financial 
statements as a whole, they are considered 
of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements.  

Our procedures over the completeness, 
existence and valuation of the Fund’s debt 
investment portfolio included, but were not 
limited to:

• Documenting the processes in place to 
record investment transactions and to value 
the portfolio;  

• Agreeing the valuation of 100% of the debt 
investment portfolio to externally quoted 
prices; and  

• Agreeing 100% of the debt investment 
portfolio to independently received third 
party confirmations.  

No material exceptions were noted as part 
of our testing.  

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
letter from the Chairman and fact sheet, but does not include the financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting 
process.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
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and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tanis 
McDonald. 

May 8, 2017
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
SHORT DURATION INCOME FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

 5102  6102  etoN   

Assets 
 332,223 $ 155,390,1 $  3 stnelaviuqe hsac dna hsaC

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5,6,10  8,519,843  8,088,044 
 603,55  097,15   elbaviecer emocni rehto dna tseretnI
 08  000,3   elbaviecer snoitpircsbuS
 296,5  898,3   stessa rehtO

 553,174,8  280,276,9   stessa latoT 
        

Equity
 557 $ 568 $ 8 latipac erahs elbameedeR
 238,955,5  286,867,6   muimerp erahS
 546,538,2  058,588,2   sgninrae deniateR

       
Total equity (net assets)  $ 9,655,397 $ 8,396,232 

        

Liabilities 
 510,06  -   elbayap snoitpmedeR
 801,51  586,61  7 sesnepxe deurcca dna elbayap stnuoccA

 321,57  586,61   seitilibail latoT 
        

Total equity and liabilities  553,174,8 $ 280,276,9 $  
        

 965,57  815,68  8 gnidnatstuo serahS A ssalC
        

Net asset value per share  11.111 $ 06.111 $  
        

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

Authorised for issue on behalf of the Board of Directors on May 8, 2017 

     SERIP .R TREBOR
Director                                      

MARK J. MELVIN 
Director                                      
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
SHORT DURATION INCOME FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

 5102  6102  etoN   

Investment income 
 456,811 $ 472,89 $ 4 emocni tseretnI

Net realised (loss)/gain on sale of financial assets 
 at fair value through profit or loss 5,12  (9,669)  11,833 
Change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets 

 )496,67(  273,24  5 ssol ro tiforp hguorht eulav riaf ta 

 397,35  779,031   emocni tnemtsevni latoT 
        

Expenses 
 )868,31(  )890,41(  7 seef tnemeganaM
 )000,62(  )000,62(  7 seef noitartsinimdA
 )966,53(  )429,63(   sesnepxe lareneg rehtO
 )600,5(  )057,3(  7 seef ’srotceriD

 )345,08(  )277,08(   sesnepxe latoT 
         

Profit/(Loss) for the year  )057,62( $ 502,05 $  
        

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
SHORT DURATION INCOME FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

    

Redeemable  
Share 

Capital  
Share 

Premium
Retained 
Earnings   Total 

Balance as at December 31, 2014 $ 934   7,555,649   2,862,395   $ 10,418,978   
Total comprehensive income 

for the year 
Loss for the year  - - (26,750)   (26,750) 
Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in equity 
Contributions and redemptions to 

  sredloherahs
Issue of Class A Shares  242 2,696,741 - 2,696,983 

  Redemption of Class A Shares  (421)   (4,692,558)   -   (4,692,979)   
Total transactions with owners  (179)   (1,995,817) - (1,995,996) 

Balance as at December 31, 2015 $ 755   5,559,832   2,835,645   $ 8,396,232   
Total comprehensive income for the year  
Profit for the year - - 50,205     50,205   
Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in equity 
Contributions and redemptions to 

  sredloherahs
Issue of Class A Shares  729   8,165,485   - 8,166,214 

  Redemption of Class A Shares  (619)   (6,956,635)   -   (6,957,254)   
Total transactions with owners  110 1,208,850 - 1,208,960 

Balance as at December 31, 2016 $ 865   6,768,682   2,885,850   $ 9,655,397   
      

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
SHORT DURATION INCOME FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

 5102  6102     

Cash flows from operating activities 
 )057,62( $ 502,05 $     raey eht rof )ssoL(/tiforP

Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) to net cash (used in)/provided 
by operating activities: 
Amortisation and accretion of bond premiums and discounts  193,896  184,880 

 )956,647,4(  )006,858,5(  stnemtsevni fo esahcruP 
 Proceeds from sale and maturity of 62,5  stnemtsevni 5,609  6,501,292 
 Net realised loss/(gain) on sale and maturity of financial assets 

 )338,11(  966,9  ssol dna tiforp hguorht eulav riaf ta  
 Change in net unrealised (gain)/loss on financial assets 

 496,67  )273,24(  ssol dna tiforp hguorht eulav riaf ta  
 Change in operating assets and liabilities: 

 366,81  615,3  elbaviecer emocni rehto dna tseretnI 
 )7(  497,1  stessa rehtO  

 937,7  775,1  sesnepxe deurcca dna elbayap stnuoccA 

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  (374,706)  2,004,019 
       

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from subscriptions of Cla 61,8  serahS A ss 3,294  2,696,903 

 )469,236,4(  )072,710,7(  serahS A ssalC fo snoitpmeder no stnemyaP

Net cash used in financing activities  )160,639,1(  420,641,1  
       

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  771,318  (67,958) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  572,452  332,223  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  332,223 $ 155,390,1 $ 
       

Supplemental information 
 791,223 $ 686,592 $ deviecer tseretnI

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
SHORT DURATION INCOME FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

1. Incorporation and principal activity 

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC (the “Company”) was incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company and 
registered as a segregated portfolio company under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on July 11, 2006. The 
Company registered under the Mutual Funds Law of the Cayman Islands on November 21, 2006. The address of its 
registered office is Appleby Trust (Cayman) Ltd., Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, George Town, 
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.   

The Company established BIAS Short Duration Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”), a segregated 
portfolio, on December 15, 2006. The Fund commenced operations on December 29, 2006. 

At December 31, 2016, the Company has four segregated portfolios, namely, the Fund, the BIAS Global Equities 
Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio, BIAS Global Balanced Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio, and the BIAS Dividend 
Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio. Additional Segregated Portfolios may be established by the Company in 
the future at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. As a matter of Cayman Islands law, the assets of one 
segregated portfolio will not be available to meet the liabilities of another. However, the Company is a single legal 
entity which may operate or have assets held on its behalf or be subject to claims in other jurisdictions which may 
not necessarily recognise such segregation. 

The Fund’s Class A Shares are listed on the Cayman Islands Stock Exchange and the Bermuda Stock Exchange.  

The Fund is a segregated portfolio and a separate individually managed pool of assets constituting, in effect, a 
separate fund with its own investment objective. The assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the Company or 
other segregated portfolios are not included in these financial statements. BIAS Asset Management Ltd. (the 
“Investment Manager”), a related party through common directors, acts as the Fund’s Investment Manager under the 
Investment Management Agreement. The Investment Manager has entered into an agreement to delegate its duties to 
Bermuda Investment Advisory Services Limited (the “Sub-Manager”). BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. and Comerica Bank 
(the “Custodians”) act as the Fund’s custodians, and Cayman National Fund Services (the “Administrator”) acts as 
the Fund’s administrator. 

Assets are identified as either general Company or Segregated Portfolio assets. Those attributable to a segregated 
portfolio comprise assets representing the total equity attributable to the segregated portfolio and other assets 
attributable to or held within that segregated portfolio. They are held separately from, and are not comingled with, 
assets of the other segregated portfolios noted above. The general assets of the Company comprise a cash balance of 
$1, representing the amount received upon issuance of the Ordinary Shares (see Note 8). As at December 31, 2016 
and 2015, the general assets are not presented separately on the statement of financial position due to immateriality. 
No income or expenses have been attributed to the general assets to date. 

The objective of the Fund is to offer a vehicle for investing in high quality money market and short duration income 
producing instruments denominated in United States (“US”) dollars, which offer liquidity, low risk and attractive 
returns consistent with prudent investment management. 

2. Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. The 
accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the period and are consistent with prior year. 

(a) Basis of preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). 
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BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
SHORT DURATION INCOME FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 

The financial statements are presented in United States (“US”) dollars, which is also the Fund’s functional 
currency, and not the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Fund’s Class A Shares are 
issued in US dollars, and assets and liabilities are denominated in US dollars. 

The statement of financial position presents assets and liabilities in decreasing order of liquidity and do not 
distinguish between current and non-current items. All of the Fund’s assets and liabilities are held for the 
purpose of being traded or are expected to be realised within one year. 

These financial statements are prepared on a fair value basis for financial assets and liabilities held at fair value 
through profit or loss. Other financial assets and liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities are stated at 
amortised cost or redemption amount which is considered to approximate fair value due to the short-term nature 
of these assets and liabilities. 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 
January 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. The Fund does not plan to 
adopt early. 

             (i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9, published in July 2014, will replace the existing guidance in IAS 39. It includes revised guidance 
on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new expected credit loss model 
for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge accounting requirements. It also 
carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. 

IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption 
permitted. Based on the initial assessment, this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the 
Fund. 

(b) Investment income and expense 

Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and is reported gross of withholding tax and the 
corresponding withholding tax is recognised as a tax expense. Bank interest income and expense is accounted 
for on the accrual basis.  

Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss, using the 
effective interest method.  

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument (or, when appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the 
financial instrument. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates future cash flows 
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. Interest received or 
receivable is recognised in profit or loss as interest income. 

(c) Financial assets and liabilities  

(i) Classification 
In accordance with IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, all investments are 
classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, under the sub-category of 
financial assets and liabilities held for trading. 

Financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables include cash and cash equivalents, interest and 
other income receivable, other assets and subscriptions receivable. Financial liabilities that are not at fair 
value through profit or loss are carried at amortised cost and include accounts payable and redemptions 
payable. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (ii)  Recognition/derecognition 
Purchases and sales of investments are initially recognised on the trade date – the date on which the Fund 
commits to purchase or sell the investment. Other financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the date 
the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

Investments and other financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or the Fund has transferred all risks and rewards of ownership. The Fund 
derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. 

Gains and losses on the disposal of financial assets and liabilities are computed on a first-in, first-out basis 
(“FIFO”) and are included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise 
within net realised (loss)/gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Movements in 
unrealised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income within change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

(iii) Measurement 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, with 
transaction costs recognised in profit or loss. Other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at 
fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue. ‘Fair value’ is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous 
market to which the Fund has access at that date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss category are presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income in the period in which they arise. 

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost, less impairment losses, if 
any.

(iv) Fair value measurement principles 
The Fund’s investments are valued on Friday of each week and at each month-end (the “Valuation Date”). 
In accordance with IFRS 13, for those financial assets and liabilities, at fair value through profit and loss, 
which have a quoted price in an active market, the Fund uses the last traded price in cases where the last 
traded price falls within the bid-ask spread. Where the last traded price falls outside the bid-ask spread, the 
bid price is used for long securities and the ask price for securities held short. There were no listed financial 
equity instruments for which quotations were not readily available in active markets on a recognised public 
stock exchange during any of the periods presented. 

The fair value of fixed income securities are estimated using market price quotations (where observable). 

(v) Identification and measurement of impairment 
 A financial asset not classified at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 

determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset is impaired if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset, and that loss event had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be 
estimated reliably. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
when incurred. Interest on impaired assets continues to be recognised. When a subsequent event causes the 
amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through the statement of 
comprehensive income. There are no impairments for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

(vi)  Offsetting 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Fund has a legal right to offset the amounts and it intends either to settle 
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are 
presented on a net basis for gains and losses from financial instruments at fair through profit or loss and 
foreign exchange gains and losses. There is no offsetting in the statement of financial position at December 
31, 2016.

(d) Operating expenses 

The Fund is responsible for all normal operating expenses including audit fees, stamp and other duties and 
charges incurred on the acquisition and realisation of investments. All expenses are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income on the accruals basis. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, money market investments, and balances held with the 
investment broker with maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in their fair value. Money market funds are valued at the net asset value as provided 
by the managers of the underlying funds. 

 (f) Share capital 

The Fund classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments. 

Ordinary Shares are classified as share capital of the Company. The Class A Shares are the most subordinate 
class of financial instruments in the Fund.  The Class A Shares provide investors with the right to require 
redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Fund’s net assets at each weekly 
redemption date and also in the event of the Fund’s liquidation. 

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligation for the Fund to repurchase or redeem that 
instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as equity, if it meets all of the following conditions: 

it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net assets in the event of the Fund’s liquidation; 

it is in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments; 

all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of 
instruments have identical features; 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Share Capital (continued) 

apart from the contractual obligation for the Fund to repurchase or redeem the instrument for cash or 
another financial asset, the instrument does not include any other features that would require 
classification as a liability; and 

the total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based substantially on the 
profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change in the fair value of the recognised 
and unrecognised net assets of the Fund over the life of the instrument. 

The Fund’s Class A Shares meet these conditions and are classified as equity. 

When Class A Shares recognised as equity are redeemed, the par value of the shares is presented as a deduction 
from redeemable share capital.  Any premium or discount to par value is recognised as an adjustment to share 
premium, or if insufficient to retained earnings. Redemptions payable are classified as financial liabilities and 
are measured at the present value of the redemption amounts.  

(g) Foreign currency 

Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than US dollars are translated at exchange rates prevailing 
at the year-end date. Transactions in other currencies during the year are translated to US dollars at the rate 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. The resulting profits or losses are disclosed in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign exchange 
loss, except for those arising on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are recognised as 
a component of net realised (loss)/gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or change in 
net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

 (h) Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Management does not believe that the 
estimates and assumptions have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

3. Cash and cash equivalents 
 2016  2015 

  Money market funds held at broker  1,093,551  322,233 

 Total $ 1,093,551 $ 322,233 
    

4. Interest income 
2016 2015 

                    
Interest income on financial assets carried at amortised cost:  

Cash and cash equivalents                  664                    31  
          $  664 $ 31 

Interest income on financial instruments designated as at fair value  
through profit or loss:  
Debt securities          97,610           118,623  

             $      97,610  $ 118,623 

18



BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
SHORT DURATION INCOME FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

5. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

The following tables summarise financial assets and liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss as at 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the related changes as presented in the statements of financial position and 
comprehensive income: 

 eulav riaF  tsoC  6102 

 Financial assets held for trading: 
 891,761,6 $ 478,002,6 $ sdnob etaroproC  
 546,253,2  187,743,2  sdnob tnemnrevoG  

 348,915,8 $ 556,845,8 $ latoT 
      

 eulav riaF  tsoC  5102 

 Financial assets held for trading: 
 513,609,2 $ 927,819,2 $ sdnob tnemnrevoG  
 927,181,5  994,042,5  sdnob etaroproC  

 440,880,8 $ 822,951,8 $ latoT 
       

 5102  6102    

Net realised (loss)/gain on sale of financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss: 

 338,11 $ )966,9( $ sdnob tnemnrevog dna etaroproC 

Change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets 
 at fair value through profit or loss: 

 )145,22(  772,71  sdnob tnemnrevoG 
 )351,45(  590,52  sdnob etaroproC 

273,24 $ latoT $ (76,694) 
       

The net realised (loss)/gain on sale of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss represents the 
difference between the acquisition price, or the carrying amount of a financial instrument and its sale/settlement 
price. The change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represents the 
difference between the acquisition price, or carrying amount of the respective financial instrument at the beginning 
of the period, and its carrying amount at the end of the period.  
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6. Fair value of financial instruments  

The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in measuring fair value: 

Level 1: Inputs are unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Fund has the ability to access at the valuation date. An active market for the asset or liability is a 
market in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and volume to 
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly. Fair value is determined through the use of models or other valuation 
methodologies. Level 2 inputs include the following: 

a) Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets.  

b) Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, that is, 
markets in which there are few transactions for the asset or liability, the prices are not current, or 
price quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers, or in which little 
information is released publicly. 

c) Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (e.g. interest rate and 
yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, volatilities, prepayment speeds, loss 
severities, credit risks and default rates). 

d) Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation 
or other means. 

Level 3: Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs reflect the Fund’s own 
assumptions about how market participants would be expected to value the asset or liability. 
Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances, other 
than market data obtained from sources independent of the Fund and might include the Fund’s own 
data. 

An investment is always categorised as Level 1, 2 or 3 in its entirety. In certain cases, the fair value measurement for 
an investment may use a number of different inputs that fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such 
cases, an investment’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement. The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement 
requires judgment and is specific to the investment. 
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6. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

The following table analyses, under the fair value hierarchy, the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value at December 31, 2016 and 2015: 

2016  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Financial Assets 
Money market funds $ 1,093,551 $ –  $ –  $ 1,093,551 

     
Government bonds: 

United States  2,352,645  –   –   2,352,645 

Total government bonds  2,352,645  –   –   2,352,645 
         

Corporate bonds: 
United States  2,819,920  2,352,626  –   5,172,546 
France  250,795  –   –   250,795 
United Kingdom  –   241,250  –   241,250 
Canada  –   249,945  –   249,945 
Sweden  –   252,662  –   252,662 

 Total corporate bonds  3,070,715   3,096,483  –   6,167,198 
          

 493,316,9 $  – $ 384,690,3 $ 119,615,6 $ latoT
         

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

2015  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Financial Assets 
Money market funds $ 322,233 $ –  $ –  $ 322,233 

       
Government bonds: 

Canada  -  517,575  –   517,575 
United States  2,388,740  –   –   2,388,740 

Total government bonds  2,388,740  517,575  –   2,906,315 
         

Corporate bonds: 
United States  –   4,928,771  –   4,928,771 
Sweden  –   252,958  –   252,958 

 Total corporate bonds  –   5,181,729  –   5,181,729 
          

 772,014,8 $  – $ 403,996,5 $ 379,017,2 $ latoT
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6. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

 The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund’s assets and liabilities (by class) not classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss at December 31, 2016 and 2015 but for which fair value is disclosed. 

 2016 
        
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Assets
Interest and other income 

 097,15   –  097,15   –  elbaviecer 
 898,3   –  898,3   –  stessa rehtO

Subscriptions receivable $ –  $ 3,000 $ –  $ 3,000 

Total $ –  $ 58,688 $ –  $ 58,688 
        

Liabilities 

Account payable and 
 accrued expenses $ –  $ _16,685 $ –  $ 16,685 

Total $ –  $ 16,685 $ –  $ 16,685 
        

 2015 
        
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Assets
Interest and other income 

 603,55   –  603,55   –  elbaviecer 
 296,5 $  – $ 296,5 $  – $ stessa rehtO

Subscriptions receivable $ –  $ 80 $ –  $ 80 

Total $ –  $ 61,078 $ –  $ 61,078 
        

Liabilities 
Account payable and 
 accrued expenses $ –  $ 15,108 $ –  $ 15,108 
Redemptions payable $ –  $ 60,015 $ –  $ 60,015 

Total $ –  $ 75,123 $ –  $ 75,123 
        

The assets and liabilities in the table above are carried at amortised cost; their carrying values are a reasonable 
approximation of fair value, due to their short term nature. 

Interest and other income receivable, other assets and subscriptions receivable classified in Level 2 other obligations 
due to the Fund. Accounts payable and accrued expenses and redemptions payable represent the contractual amounts 
and obligations due by the Fund for settlement of trades and expenses. 
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7. Fees and expenses 

Management fees 
The Investment Manager of the Fund is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Fund, including managing 
the investment portfolio, providing investment analysis and making decisions relating to the investment of assets of 
the Fund. The Fund is responsible for the payment of a management fee to the Investment Manager for its services to 
the Fund equal to 0.15% per annum (0.30% prior to October 1, 2013) of the Net Asset Value (“NAV”) of the Fund, 
calculated weekly and payable monthly in arrears. During the year ended December 31, 2016, management fees 
totalled $14,098 (2015: $13,868). As at December 31, 2016 management fees payable totalled $1,211 (2015: $1,076) 
and were included within accounts payable and accrued expenses on the statement of financial position. The 
Investment Manager compensates the Sub-Manager for performing its delegated duties. 

Administration fees 
The Administrator is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the weekly NAV of the Fund, 
and subject to an annual minimum fee of $24,000. The new fee minimum became effective October 1, 2013. The 
administration fee is calculated weekly and is payable monthly in arrears. Administration fees for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 totalled $26,000 (2015: $26,000). 

The Administrator and the Investment Manager are reimbursed by the Fund for other fees and expenses that are 
identifiable with the Fund.

Directors’ fees 
Each Director who is not an officer or employee of the Investment Manager or Sub-Manager receives a flat annual 
fee for serving in such capacity. The fee will be in accordance with reasonable and customary Directors’ fees. The 
Directors are entitled to reimbursement from the Fund for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them on 
behalf of the Fund. 

8. Share capital 

The Company has an authorised share capital as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 of $50,001 divided into 100 
Ordinary Shares of $0.01 par value each and 5,000,000 non-voting, Redeemable Participating Shares of $0.01 par 
value each divided upon issue into Classes for each of the segregated portfolio funds. The Ordinary Shares of the 
Company are owned by the Investment Manager, and are the only shares of the Company with voting rights. The 
Company has authorised the issuance of up to 1,000,000 Class A Shares in the Fund. 

The issued share capital of the Company and Fund is as follows: 

 5102 6102  
Number Par Value 

(US$) 
Number Par Value 

(US$) 

Issued and fully paid: 
Company 
Ordinary Shares 100 1 100 1

      
Fund
Class A Shares 

Balance at beginning of year 
Issued during the year 
Redeemed during the year 

75,569 
72,883 

  (61,934) 

755 
729 

(619) 

93,425 
24,225 

 (42,081) 

934 
242 

 (421) 
 557 965,57 568 815,68 raey fo dne ta ecnalaB
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8. Share capital (continued) 

Each Class A Share represents a beneficial interest in the Fund ranking equally in all distributions when and as 
declared payable. An unlimited number of the Fund’s shares may be issued which are redeemable each Monday and 
at such other times as the Directors may determine in their discretion at the shareholders’ option at the then current 
NAV per share, in accordance with the terms of the Information Memorandum. 

Notwithstanding the redeemable shareholders’ rights to redemptions above, the Fund has the right, as set out in its 
Information Memorandum, to impose a redemption gate limit of 5% of the Class A Shares of the Fund or $100,000 
in any redemption period in order to manage redemption levels and maintain the strength of the Fund’s capital base. 

In addition, no sales will be permitted within the first 90 days from initial purchase and a redemption fee of 2% will 
be assessed on Class A Shares redeemed within 12 months after their date of purchase and 1% on Class A Shares 
redeemed beyond 12 months, subject to a minimum fee of $25 per redemption request. The redemption fee will be 
shared equally between the Investment Manager and the Fund, and may be waived at the discretion of the Directors. 

The holders of the Ordinary Shares have a right to receive notice of, attend and vote as members at any general 
meeting of the Company. The Ordinary Shares are not entitled to dividends nor do they participate in the profits of 
neither the Company nor the Fund. On a liquidation of the Company, the general assets of the Company, being the 
assets of the Company which are not assets of the Segregated Portfolios, shall be available for distribution to the 
holders of the Ordinary Shares pro rata according to the number of Ordinary Shares held by them. The Ordinary 
Shares are held by the Investment Manager. 

The holders of the Class A Shares are not entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote as members at any general 
meeting of the Company. Holders of the Class A Shares are entitled to receive dividends and participate in the 
profits of the Fund. On a liquidation of the Fund, the holders of the Class A Shares have a right to participate in the 
surplus assets of the Fund after the payment of all creditors.  

9. Income Taxes 

The Cayman Islands at present impose no taxes on profit, income, capital gains or appreciation in value of the Fund. 
In the event that such taxes are levied, the Fund has received an undertaking from the Governor-in-Cabinet of 
Cayman Islands exempting it from all such taxes until July 25, 2026. As such, no provision for such taxes is included 
in the accompanying financial statements. 

The Fund may, however, be subject to foreign withholding tax and capital gains tax in certain jurisdictions in respect 
of income derived from its investments. 

10. Financial instruments and associated risks 

The Fund is exposed to a variety of financial risks in pursuing its stated investment objective and policy. These risks 
are defined in IFRS 7 as including market risk (which in turn includes price, interest rate and currency risk), liquidity 
risk and credit risk. The Fund takes exposure to certain of these risks to generate investment returns on its portfolio, 
although these risks can also potentially result in a reduction in the Fund’s net assets. The Investment Manager will 
use its best endeavours to minimise the potential adverse effects of these risks on the Fund’s performance where it 
can do so while still managing the investments of the Fund in a way that is consistent with the Fund’s investment 
objective and policy. 
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

The risks, and the measures adopted by the Fund for managing these risks, are detailed below. 

(a) Price risk 

Market price risk is defined as the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or its future cash flows will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and 
credit spreads.  

The Fund’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of fixed income securities, the values of 
which are determined by market forces and there is accordingly a risk that market prices can change in a way 
that is adverse to the Fund’s performance. An increase or decrease of 100 basis points in the prices of fixed 
income securities and equity securities, with all other variables remaining constant, as at the reporting date 
would have increased or decreased net assets by $85,198 (2015: $80,880). 

In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s positions on a daily basis 
and reports regularly to the Directors. The Directors then review the information on the Fund’s overall market 
exposures provided by the Investment Manager at its periodic meetings. 

 As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the overall market exposures and concentration of risk are limited to the 
amounts presented in the statement of financial position.

(b) Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.  

The Fund’s cash and cash equivalents and certain financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are interest 
bearing instruments. The Fund’s other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing. 

The Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk is detailed in the table below: 

   tseretni-noN  tseretnI   
 latoT  gniraeb  gniraeb  6102

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,093,551 $ –    $ 1,093,551   
Financial assets at fair value through 

 348,915,8     –  348,915,8  ssol dna tiforp 
Interest and other income receivable  –     51,790  51,790 
Subscriptions receivable  –     3,000  3,000 

 898,3  898,3     –  stessa rehtO
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  –     (16,685)  (16,685) 

793,556,9 $ 300,24 $ 493,316,9 $ latoT
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

(b) Interest rate risk (continued)
   tseretni-noN  tseretnI   
 latoT  gniraeb  gniraeb  5102

Cash and cash equivalents $ 322,233 $ –    $ 322,233   
Financial assets at fair value through 

 440,880,8     –  440,880,8  ssol dna tiforp 
Interest and other income receivable  –     55,306  55,306 
Subscriptions receivable  –     80  80 

 296,5  296,5     –  stessa rehtO
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  –     (15,108)  (15,108) 

 )510,06(  )510,06(     –  elbayap snoitpmedeR

232,693,8 $ )540,41( $ 772,014,8 $ latoT
       

Should the interest bearing assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2016 be held for a period of 12 months, an 
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables remaining constant, would have 
increased or decreased net assets by $96,134 (2015: $84,103). 

A summary of the Fund’s fixed income holdings analysed by maturity date is as follows: 

 latoT + raey 1 shtnom 21-3 shtnom 3-0 6102

Government bonds $ – $ – $ 2,352,645 $ 2,352,645 
Corporate bonds  –  507,440  5,659,758  6,167,198 

 
Total $ – $ 507,440 $ 8,012,403 $ 8,519,843 

         

 latoT + raey 1 shtnom 21-3 shtnom 3-0 5102

Government bonds $ – $ 517,575 $ 2,388,740 $ 2,906,315 
Corporate bonds  1,278,050  248,440  3,655,239  5,181,729 

 
Total $ 1,278,050 $ 766,015 $ 6,043,979 $ 8,088,044 

         
(c) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Fund invests in financial instruments and enters into transactions that are denominated in currencies other 
than its functional currency. The Fund is therefore exposed to currency risk, as the value of the securities 
denominated in other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. 

The Fund’s Investment Manager and the Sub-Manager meet on a bi-weekly basis in order to manage all relevant 
risks to the Fund’s investments, including currency risk. 

The Fund has no exposure to foreign currency or securities denominated in foreign currencies at December 31, 
2016. 

(d) Other price risk 

The investment manager reviews the credit concentration of debt securities held based on counterparties and 
industries [and geographic location as discussed in Note 6].  
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

(d) Other price risk (continued) 

As at the reporting date, the Fund’s debt securities exposures were concentrated in the following industries.  

Investments in fixed income securities by industry      Year Ended December 31 

(e) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Fund’s financial assets are greater than the financial liabilities and assets 
held are liquid in nature. All liabilities are expected to mature within twelve months of the reporting date. As 
such, the Fund’s management does not anticipate any material losses as a result of liquidity risk. 

 Less than  One to three 
 latoT  shtnom  htnom eno  6102

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ – $ 16,685 $ 16,685 

Total liabilities $ – $ 16,685 $ 16,685 
      

 Less than  One to three 
 latoT  shtnom  htnom eno  5102

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 3,076 $ 12,032 $ 15,108 
 510,06 $ - $ 510,06 $ elbayap snoitpmedeR

Total liabilities $ 63,091 $ 12,032 $ 75,123 
      

%%

088,362slairetaM cisaB       3.1        267,800        3.3     
551,405snoitacinummoC       5.9        1,007,420     12.5   
017,562lacilcyC ,remusnoC       3.1        267,360        3.3     
073,505lacilcyc-noN ,remusnoC       5.9        764,958        9.5     
085,005ygrenE       5.9 -                -             
826,118,1laicnaniF    21.3      1,577,566     19.5   
546,253,2tnemnrevoG    27.6      2,906,315     35.9   
013,997,1lairtsudnI    21.1      770,590        9.5     
565,615ygolonhceT       6.1        526,035        6.5     

8,519,843$ 100.0    8,088,044$   100.0

2016 2015
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

(e) Liquidity risk (continued) 

As described in Note 8 to the financial statements, the Fund’s Class A shares are redeemable at the 
shareholder’s option on a weekly basis, and therefore the Fund is potentially exposed to weekly redemptions by 
its shareholders.  

(f) Credit risk 

Credit risk is defined as the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the to  
the Fund by failing to discharge an obligation or commitment that it has entered into with the Fund.  

The majority of the Fund’s financial assets are held with Comerica Bank, which is rated “A3” (2015: “A3”) 
based on rating agency Moody’s ratings. Management regularly monitors the institution’s credit risk and does 
not anticipate any significant losses from this concentration. Furthermore, the Fund only invests in investment 
grade fixed-income securities. 

The Fund’s maximum credit risk exposure at the reporting date is $9,672,082 (2015: $8,471,355) which is the 
sum of the assets reported in the statement of financial position. 

The Investment Manager monitors the credit rating of debt securities on a continuous basis and actively reviews 
its investments to achieve profitable results. 

(g) Regulatory environment risk 

A changing regulatory environment, including, but not limited to, changes in relevant tax laws, securities laws, 
bankruptcy laws or accounting standards, may make the business of the Fund less profitable or unprofitable. The 
ability of the Fund to carry on business from the Cayman Islands or as a Cayman Islands Fund will depend upon 
its initial and continuing compliance with the relevant provisions of Cayman Islands law and, in particular, the 
Mutual Funds Law. Management regularly monitors the institution’s regulatory environment risk and does not 
anticipate any significant changes relevant to the Fund. 

(h) Dependence on the Investment Manager risk 

The Investment Manager is responsible for investing the assets of the Fund. The success of the Fund depends 
upon the ability of the Investment Manager to develop and implement investment strategies that achieve the 
Fund’s investment objectives.  

11. Capital risk management 

At December 31, 2016 the Fund had $9,655,397 (2015: 8,396,232) of redeemable share capital classified as equity. 
The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets of the Fund. The amount of net assets can change 
significantly on a weekly basis as the Fund is subject to weekly subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion of the 
Directors. The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for holders of Class A Shares and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the Fund. The Fund’s policies with 
respect to managing its capital risk are discussed in Note 8 above. There were no changes in the policies and 
procedures during the year with respect to the Fund’s approach to its redeemable share capital management. 

The Directors and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets of the Fund. 

The Fund is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
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12. Related party transactions  

As at December 31, 2016, the Directors of the Fund held 471 (2015: nil) Class A Shares in the Fund. As at   
December 31, 2015, persons or entities related to the Directors, the Investment Manager, or the Sub-Manager held 
22.97% (2015: 18.86%) of the Class A Shares in the Fund. 

BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. earns trade commission revenue based on trades executed within the Fund’s normal course of 
business. For the year ended December 31, 2016 the total trade commissions earned amounted to $13,325. 
Commissions are calculated by BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. based on gross trade amount and security type.  

Management fees, commission fees and Directors fees are considered related party transactions and are discussed in 
Note 7 above. 

BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. and the Sub-Manager are related to the Fund by virtue of common control. 

13. Subsequent events 

From January 1, 2017 through May 8, 2017 the Fund received subscriptions of $1,126,313 and paid redemptions of 
$3,198,721. 

Effective January 1, 2017 the Company appointed Beacon Fund Services (Cayman) Ltd. as the Fund’s 
Administrator, replacing Cayman National Fund Services Ltd. One of the directors of Beacon Fund Services 
(Cayman) Ltd. is also a director of the Fund. 
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GLOBAL BALANCED FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

Robert R. Pires
Chairman
BIAS Global Portfolios SPC
BIAS Global Balanced Fund  – US$ Segregated Portfolio
June 20, 2017

INVESTMENT POLICY
The Segregated Portfolio (“the Fund”) holds a portfolio of global equities or limited partnership interests together with money 
market instruments, corporate bonds and Eurobonds of issuers throughout the world, government bonds of countries that 
are members of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (“OECD”) and other income producing 
securities.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
We are pleased to present the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Fund for the year ended December 31, 2016. 
The net asset value per share of the Fund increased from $112.45 as at 31st December 2015 to $115.50 as at 31st 
December 2016. This increase in value represents a total return after fees for the Fund of 2.71% for the 2016 calendar year. 
The total assets of the Fund declined from $28.4m to $25.1m over the calendar year ending December 31, 2016.

ANNUAL REVIEW
Over the course of the year, the equity allocation in the Balanced Fund was gradually increased as economic and earning 
prospects improved. Within our fixed income allocation we maintained a slightly shorter duration in 2016 to guard against 
rising interest rates and added floating rate notes. Relative to the benchmark we were overweight relatively better yielding 
corporate bonds.

Global equity markets declined sharply at the start of the year due to concerns over global growth, slowdown in the Chinese 
economy and the fall in oil prices. These fears started to ebb in the second quarter as a combination of central bank 
accommodation and better US economic data revived investor confidence. In June, markets were surprised by the UK’s 
Brexit vote to leave the European Union which ignited fears that other nations may hold a similar referendum to depart the 
EU. Markets however quickly recovered from the shock as investors realized that any fallout from the decision is likely to be 
local rather than global. Also supporting the market during the third quarter was the strength in the US economy and 
improving corporate earnings. Momentum continued in the fourth quarter with major indexes in the US touching an all-time 
high as intermediate forecasts for growth and inflation were repriced after Trump’s dramatic victory in the US presidential 
election. Financials rose sharply due to perceived benefits of higher bond yields.

The Fund gained from its overweight position in equites in the last quarter of the year. Our stock selection in Financials and 
Consumer Staples added the most value to the portfolio performance during this period. Meanwhile, our stock selection in 
Information Technology and overweight position in Healthcare sector detracted from performance.

OUTLOOK
In 2017, we remain overweight equities versus fixed income as underlying growth is expected to pick up amid a gradually 
improving cyclical backdrop, reacceleration in corporate earnings, and a pragmatic approach by the Fed. Within equities, 
we reduce our allocation in dividend paying stocks as the economic cycle matures and the Fed continues on its path of 
gradually raising interest rates. Within sectors we are overweight Information Technology, Financials, Health Care and 
Energy. Rising interest rates, hopes of a less onerous regulatory environment, potential corporate tax reform, an improving 
earnings revisions trend, and reasonable valuations are supportive of these pro-growth sectors.
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Global Balanced Fund
As of December 31, 2016

Invests in a mixture of money market, fixed income, and equity securities with the objective of providing outperformance 
through strategic and tactical asset class shifts. A top-down macroeconomic approach is employed with weightings 
determined by the expected risks and returns within each asset class.
 
Suitable for conservative to moderate investors who seek medium-to long-term real capital appreciation while 
minimizing risk through asset class diversification.

* 60% S&P Global 1200 Index/ 20% Citigroup 1-3 Yr Treas. Index/
20% Citigroup 3-7 Yr Treas. Index

** Prior to April 1, 2012 benchmark was FTSE World Equity Index.

Current Strategy Allocation

Cash  5.5%
Fixed Income   33.0%
Equities  61.5%

Fund Information

 

 

 

 

Inception Date

Base Currency 

Benchmark**

NAV per share

Subscriptions/Redemptions

Management Fee

December 29, 2006

USD

Blended Composite*

$115.50

Weekly

1.10%

Key Statistics

 

 

 

 

Number of Holdings

AUM

Standard Deviation

Sharpe Ratio

75

$25,120,387

12.13

0.73

Top Holdings

 

 

 

 

Wisdomtree Japan Hedged Equity Fund   3.42%

PowerShares KBW Bank     3.28%

Goldman Sachs Group Inc.     2.58%

J P Morgan Chase & Co.     2.51%

US Treasury Note 3.625% Due 15 Feb 2021   2.14%

US Treasury Note 3.125% Due 15 May 2021   2.10%

US Treasury Note 3.125% Due 15 May 2021   2.08%

Johnson & Johnson 5.550% Due 15 Aug 2017   2.06%

AstraZeneca PLC 5.900% Due 15 Sep 2017   2.05%

Statoil ASA 3.125% Due 17 Aug 2017   2.01%
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of: 
BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC – BIAS Global Balanced Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC – BIAS Global 
Balanced Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”), which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statements of comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Fund as at December 31, 2016, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the 
Fund in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board of Accountants Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  The key 
audit matters identified for the audit of the Fund are as detailed on the following page: 
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Existence and valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Refer to the accounting policies and financial disclosures in the notes to the financial 
statements.   

Description of the key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our 
audit 

The Fund’s debt and equity investment 
portfolio makes up 94% of total assets (by 
value) and is considered to be the key driver 
of the Fund’s capital and revenue 
performance. We do not consider these 
investments to be at high risk of significant 
misstatement, or to be subject to a 
significant level of judgment, because they 
comprise liquid, quoted investments that 
are held by third party custodians. However, 
due to their materiality in the context of the 
financial statements as a whole, they are 
considered of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements.  

Our procedures over the completeness, 
existence and valuation of the Fund’s debt 
and quoted equity investment portfolio 
included, but were not limited to:

• Documenting the processes in place to 
record investment transactions and to value 
the portfolio;  

• Agreeing the valuation of 100% of the debt 
and equity investment portfolio to externally 
quoted prices; and  

• Agreeing 100% of the debt and equity 
investment portfolio to independently 
received third party confirmations.  

No material exceptions were noted as part 
of our testing.  

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
letter from the Chairman and fact sheet, but does not include the financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting 
process.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
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assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tanis 
McDonald. 

   May 8, 2017 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

 5102  6102  etoN   

Assets 
 997,459,1 $ 010,493,1  $ 6 ,3 stnelaviuqe hsac dna hsaC

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5, 6, 10  23,684,269  26,332,686 
Interest and divi  831,68  729,19   elbaviecer sdned

 000,03  -   elbaviecer snoitpircsbuS
 296,5  422,7   stessa rehtO

 513,904,82 $ 034,771,52  $  stessa latoT 
        

Equity
Redeemable share capital                                                          8                     $               2,175           $             2,522 

 847,800,32  228,461,91   muimerp erahS
 398,843,5  093,359,5   sgninrae deniateR

       
Total equity (net assets)  $  25,120,387 $ 28,360,163 

       
   
Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7 $  54,894 $ 47,481 

 176,1  941,2   elbayap snoitpmedeR

 251,94 $ 340,75  $  seitilibail latoT 
        

Total equity and liabilities  513,904,82    $ 034,771,52    $  
    

        

 202,252  484,712  8 gnidnatstuo serahS A ssalC
        

Net asset value per share  54.211            $          05.511  $  
        

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

Authorised for issue on behalf of the Board of Directors on May 8, 2017: 

ROBERT R. PIRES 
Director

MARK J. MELVIN 
Director
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   Note  2016  2015 

Investment income 
 392,521 $ 726,421 $  4 emocni tseretnI
 671,855  133,243    sdnediviD
 103,81  125,32   emocni suoenallecsiM

Net realised (loss)/gain on sale of financial assets  
 at fair value through profit or loss 5   (233,905)  67,831 
Change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets 
 at fair value through profit or loss 5   854,802  (1,093,228) 

 )726,323(  673,111,1   )ssol(/emocni tnemtsevni latoT 
        

Expenses 
 )098,193(  )024,392(  7 seef tnemeganaM
 )798,77(  )299,19(  01 esnepxe xat gnidlohhtiW
 )810,56(  )077,75(  7 seef noitartsinimda dna ydotsuC
 )808,45(  )749,95(   sesnepxe lareneg rehtO
 )600,5(  )057,3(  7 seef ’srotceriD

 )916,495(  )978,605(   sesnepxe latoT 
        

Profit/(Loss) for the year  )642,819( $ 794,406 $  
        

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

    

Redeemable  
Share 

Capital  
Share 

Premium
Retained 
Earnings   Total 

Balance as at December 31, 2014 $ 2,854   26,887,234   6,267,139   $ 33,157,227   
Total comprehensive loss 

for the year 
Loss for the year - - (918,246)   (918,246) 
Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in equity 
Contributions and redemptions  

to shareholders 
Issue of Class A Shares  225 2,676,365 - 2,676,590 

  Redemption of Class A Shares  (557)   (6,554,851)   -   (6,555,408)   
Total transactions with owners  (332)   (3,878,486) - (3,878,818) 

Balance as at December 31, 2015 $ 2,522   23,008,748   5,348,893   $ 28,360,163   
Total comprehensive income for the year  
Profit for the year - - 604,497     604,497   
Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in equity 
Contributions and redemptions  

to shareholders 
Issue of Class A Shares  218   2,426,388   - 2,426,606 

  Redemption of Class A Shares  (565)   (6,270,314)   -   (6,270,879)   
Total transactions with owners  (347) (3,843,926) - (3,844,273) 

Balance as at December 31, 2016 $ 2,175   19,164,822  5,953,390   $ 25,120,387   

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

     2016  2015 

Cash flows from operating activities 
 )642,819( $ 794,406 $  raey eht rof )ssoL(/tiforP

Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) to net cash provided by 
 operating activities: 
 Net realised loss/(gain) on sale of financial assets 

 )216,37(  182,142   ssol ro tiforp hguorht eulav riaf ta 
 Change in net unrealised (gain)/loss on financial assets  

 822,390,1  )208,458(   ssol ro tiforp hguorht eulav riaf ta 
 Amortisation of bond premiums and discounts   186,713  210,505 

 )720,284,91(  )915,614,81(   stnemtsevni fo esahcruP 
 Proceeds from sale of invest 194,12   stnem ,744  23,848,482 
Change in operating assets and liabilities: 
 Interest and dividends r 127,03  )987,5(   elbaviece

 )7(  )235,1(   stessa rehtO 
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses   7,413  (2,436) 

Net cash provided by operating activities   3,253,006  4,706,608 
        

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from subscriptions of Class A Shares   2,456,606  2,646,590 
Payments on redemptions of Class A Shares   (6,270,401)  (6,675,166) 

Net cash (used in) financing activities   (3,813,795)  (4,028,576) 
        

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (560,789)  678,032 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   1,954,799  1,276,767 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 1,394,010 $ 1,954,799 
        

Supplemental information 
 694,753 $ 022,503 $  deviecer tseretnI
 380,765 $ 687,853 $  deviecer sdnediviD
 798,77 $ 299,19 $  diap sexaT

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

1. Incorporation and principal activity 

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC (the “Company”) was incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company and 
registered as a segregated portfolio company under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on July 11, 
2006. The Company registered under the Mutual Funds Law of the Cayman Islands on November 21, 2006. 
The address of its registered office is Appleby Trust (Cayman) Ltd., Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 
1350, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.  

The Company established BIAS Global Balanced Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”), a segregated 
portfolio of assets, on December 15, 2006. The Fund commenced operations on December 29, 2006.   

At December 31, 2016, the Company has four segregated portfolios, namely, the Fund, BIAS Global Equities 
Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio, BIAS Short Duration Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio, and the 
BIAS Global Dividend Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio (the “Segregated Portfolios”). Additional 
segregated portfolios may be established by the Company in the future at the sole discretion of the Board of 
Directors. As a matter of Cayman Islands law, the assets of one segregated portfolio will not be available to 
meet the liabilities of another. However, the Company is a single legal entity which may operate or have assets 
held on its behalf or be subject to claims in other jurisdictions which may not necessarily recognise such 
segregation. 

The Fund’s Class A Shares are listed on the Cayman Islands Stock Exchange and the Bermuda Stock 
Exchange.  

The Fund is a segregated portfolio and a separate individually managed pool of assets constituting, in effect, a 
separate fund with its own investment objective. The assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the 
Company or other segregated portfolios are not included in these financial statements. BIAS Asset 
Management Ltd. (the “Investment Manager”), a related party through common directors, acts as the Fund’s 
Investment Manager under the Investment Management Agreement. The Investment Manager has entered into 
an agreement to delegate its duties to Bermuda Investment Advisory Services Limited (the “Sub-Manager”). 
BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. and Comerica Bank (the “Custodians”) act as the Fund’s custodians, and Cayman 
National Fund Services (the “Administrator”) acts as the Fund’s administrator. 

Assets are identified as either general Company or Segregated Portfolio assets. Those attributable to a 
segregated portfolio comprise assets representing the total equity attributable to the segregated portfolio and 
other assets attributable to or held within that segregated portfolio. They are held separately from, and are not 
comingled with, assets of the other segregated portfolios noted above. The general assets of the Company 
comprise a cash balance of $1, representing the amount received upon issuance of the Ordinary Shares (see 
Note 8). As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the general assets are not presented separately on the statement of 
financial position due to immateriality. No income or expenses have been attributed to the general assets to 
date. 

The objective of the Fund is to achieve long-term capital growth in the value of assets. The policy of the 
Investment Manager and Sub-Manager is to hold a portfolio of global equities or limited partnership interests 
together with money market instruments, corporate bonds and Eurobonds of issuers throughout the world, 
government bonds of countries that are members of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and 
Development and other income producing securities. 

2. Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. The 
accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the period and are consistent with prior year.

(a) Basis of preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”). 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 

The financial statements are presented in United States (“US”) dollars, which is also the Fund’s functional 
currency, and not the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Fund’s Class A 
Shares are issued in US dollars, and assets and liabilities are denominated in US dollars. 

The statement of financial position presents assets and liabilities in decreasing order of liquidity and do not 
distinguish between current and non-current items. All of the Fund’s assets and liabilities are held for the 
purpose of being traded or are expected to be realised within one year. 

These financial statements are prepared on a fair value basis for financial assets and liabilities held at fair 
value through profit or loss. Other financial assets and liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities are 
stated at amortised cost or redemption amount which is considered to approximate fair value due to the 
short-term nature of these assets and liabilities. 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 
January 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. The Fund does not plan to 
adopt early. 

(i) IFRS 9  Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9, published in July 2014, will replace the existing guidance in IAS 39. It includes revised 
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new expected 
credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge accounting 
requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial 
instruments from IAS 39. 

IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early 
adoption permitted. Based on the initial assessment, this standard is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Fund. 

(b) Investment income and expense 

Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and is reported gross of withholding tax and the 
corresponding withholding tax is recognised as a tax expense. Bank interest income and expense is 
accounted for on the accrual basis.  

Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss, 
using the effective interest method. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument (or, when appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of 
the financial instrument. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates future cash flows 
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. Interest received 
or receivable is recognised in profit or loss as interest income. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Financial assets and liabilities  

(i) Classification  
In accordance with IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, all investments 
are classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, under the sub-
category of financial assets and liabilities held for trading. 

Financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables include cash and cash equivalents, 
interest, subscriptions receivable, other assets and dividends receivable. Financial liabilities that are 
not at fair value through profit or loss are carried at amortised cost and include accounts payable 
and redemptions payable. 

(ii) Recognition/derecognition 
Purchases and sales of investments are initially recognised on the trade date – the date on which the 
Fund commits to purchase or sell the investment. Other financial assets and liabilities are 
recognised on the date the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

Investments and other financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the investments have expired or the Fund has transferred all risks and rewards of ownership. The 
Fund derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expired. 

Gains and losses on the disposal of financial assets and liabilities are computed on a first-in, first-
out basis (“FIFO”) and are included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in 
which they arise within net realised (loss)/gain on sale of financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss. Movements in unrealised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within change in net unrealised gain/(loss) 
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  

(iii) Measurement 
 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair 

value, with transaction costs recognised in profit and loss. Other financial assets and financial 
liabilities are recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their 
acquisition or issue. ‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in 
the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Fund has access at that 
date.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss category are presented in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

 Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost, less impairment 
losses, if any. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 (iv)  Fair value measurement principles 
 The Fund’s investments are valued on Friday of each week and at each month-end (the “Valuation 

Date”). In accordance with IFRS 13, for those financial assets and liabilities, at fair value through 
profit and loss, which have a quoted price in an active market, the Fund uses the last traded price in 
cases where the last traded price falls within the bid-ask spread. Where the last traded price falls 
outside the bid-ask spread, the bid price is used for long and the ask price for securities held short. 
There were no listed financial equity instruments for which quotations were not readily available in 
active markets on a recognised public stock exchange during any of the periods presented. 

The fair value of fixed income securities are estimated using market price quotations (where 
observable).  

The fair value of mutual funds and hedge funds are based on the net asset value of the Fund’s 
investment in those underlying funds as published or otherwise reported by the underlying 
administrators. The mutual funds and hedge funds in which the Fund invests will generally value 
securities on a national securities exchange or reported on a national market at the last reported sales 
price on the day of valuation. 

(v) Identification and measurement of impairment 
 A financial asset not classified at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date 

to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset is impaired if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset, and that loss event had an impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income when incurred. Interest on impaired assets continues to be 
recognised. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the 
decrease in impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income. There are 
no impairments for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

(vi)  Offsetting 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 

financial position when, and only when, the Fund has a legal right to offset the amounts and it 
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis for gains and losses from financial instruments at 
fair through profit or loss and foreign exchange gains and losses. There is no offsetting in the 
statement of financial position at December 31, 2016. 

(vii) Involvement with unconsolidated structured entities 
The Fund has concluded that hedge funds in which it invests, but that it does not consolidate, meet 
the definition of structured entities because: 

voting rights in the hedge funds are not dominant rights in deciding who controls them because 
they relate to administrative tasks only; 

each hedge fund's activities are restricted by its prospectus; and 

the hedge funds have narrow and well-defined objectives to provide investment opportunities to 
investors. 
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2.     Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Operating expenses 

The Fund is responsible for all normal operating expenses including audit fees, stamp and other duties and 
charges incurred on the acquisition and realisation of investments. All expenses are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income on the accruals basis. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, money market investments, and balances held with the 
investment broker with maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value. Money market funds are valued at the net asset value as 
provided by the managers of the underlying funds. 

       (f) Share capital 

The Fund classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.

Ordinary Shares are classified as share capital of the Company. The Class A Shares are the most 
subordinate class of financial instruments in the Fund.  The Class A Shares provide investors with the right 
to require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Fund’s net assets at 
each weekly redemption date and also in the event of the Fund’s liquidation. 

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligation for the Fund to repurchase or redeem 
that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as equity, if it meets all of the following 
conditions: 

it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net assets in the event of the Fund’s 
liquidation; 

it is in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments; 

all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of 
instruments have identical features; 

apart from the contractual obligation for the Fund to repurchase or redeem the instrument for 
cash or another financial asset, the instrument does not include any other features that would 
require classification as a liability; and 

the total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based substantially 
on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change in the fair value of the 
recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Fund over the life of the instrument. 

The Fund’s Class A Shares meet these conditions and are classified as equity. 

When Class A Shares recognised as equity are redeemed, the par value of the shares is presented as a 
deduction from redeemable share capital.  Any premium or discount to par value is recognised as an 
adjustment to share premium, or if insufficient to retained earnings. Redemptions payable are classified as 
financial liabilities and are measured at the present value of the redemption amounts.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(g) Foreign currency 

Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than US dollars are translated at exchange rates 
prevailing at the year-end date. Transactions in other currencies during the year are translated to US dollars 
at the rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. The resulting profits or losses are disclosed in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign 
exchange loss, except for those arising on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which 
are recognised as a component of net realised gain/(loss) on sale of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss or change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

(h) Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
Management does not believe that the estimates and assumptions have a significant risk of causing 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

3. Cash and cash equivalents 

                                   2016                           2015 

 Cash at broker  $ - $ 16 
 Money market funds held at broker   1,394,010  1,954,783 

 Total  $ 1,394,010 $ 1,954,799 
     

4. Interest income 

2016 2015 
                    

    
Interest income on financial assets carried at amortised cost:  

  611                  101,1               stnelaviuqe hsac dna hsaC
               $          1,101     $             116  

Interest income on financial instruments held for trading:  
  771,521           625,321          seitiruces tbeD

               $      123,526    $      125,177  
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5. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

The following tables summarise financial assets and liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss as at 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the related changes as presented in the statements of financial position and 
comprehensive income: 

 eulav riaF  tsoC   6102 

 Financial assets held for trading: 
 908,521,3  090,841,3   sdnob tnemnrevoG  
 048,790,5  541,911,5   sdnob etaroproC  
 026,064,51  298,072,41   seitiruces ytiuqE  

 Total  $ 22,538,127 $ 23,684,269 
     

 eulav riaF  tsoC   5102 

 Financial assets held for trading: 
 629,559,3  098,969,3   sdnob tnemnrevoG  
 799,922,4  976,522,4   sdnob etaroproC  
 367,641,81  777,548,71   seitiruces ytiuqE  

 Total  $ 26,041,346 $ 26,332,686 
     

 5102  6102     
 Net realized (loss)gain on sale of financial assets  
  at fair value through profit or loss: 

 Equity securities, bonds, mutual funds and hedge funds $ (233,905) $ 67,831 

Change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets 
 at fair value through profit or loss: 

 )865,746( $ - $  sdnuf lautuM 
 227,363                   -   sdnuf egdeH 

 )350,22(     )713,8(   sdnob tnemnrevoG 
 )683,6(  )326,52(   sdnob etaroproC 
 )349,087(  247,888   seitiruces ytiuqE 

 )822,390,1( $ 208,458 $  latoT 
        

The net realised (loss)/gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represents the 
difference between the acquisition price, or the carrying amount of a financial instrument, and its 
sale/settlement price. The change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss represents the difference between the acquisition price, or carrying amount of the respective financial 
instrument at the beginning of the period, and its carrying amount at the end of the period.  
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6. Fair values of financial instruments

The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in measuring fair value: 

Level 1: Inputs are unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the Fund has the ability to access at the valuation date. An active market for the asset or liability 
is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and 
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. Fair value is determined through the use of models or other 
valuation methodologies. Level 2 inputs include the following: 

a) Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets.  

b) Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, that is, 
markets in which there are few transactions for the asset or liability, the prices are not 
current, or price quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers, or in 
which little information is released publicly. 

c) Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (e.g. interest rate 
and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, volatilities, prepayment speeds, 
loss severities, credit risks and default rates). 

d) Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 
correlation or other means. 

Level 3: Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs reflect the Fund’s own 
assumptions about how market participants would be expected to value the asset or liability. 
Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances, 
other than market data obtained from sources independent of the Fund and might include the 
Fund’s own data. 

An investment is always categorised as Level 1, 2 or 3 in its entirety. In certain cases, the fair 
value measurement for an investment may use a number of different inputs that fall into different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment’s level within the fair value 
hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires 
judgment and is specific to the investment. 
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6. Fair values of financial instruments (continued) 

The following table analyses, under the fair value hierarchy, the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value at December 31, 2016: 

 latoT  3 leveL  2 leveL  1 leveL  6102

Financial Assets 
Money market funds $ 1,394,010 $ –   $ –   $ 1,394,010 

Government bonds: 
United States  2,875,809  250,000    –    3,125,809 

 Total government bonds  2,875,809  250,000  –    3,125,809 
         

Corporate bonds: 
Canada  –    249,690  –    249,690 
United Kingdom  –    515,480  –    515,480 
France  250,795     –   –    250,795 
Netherlands  265,253     –   –    265,253 
Norway  505,860  –   –    505,860 
United States  1,534,270   1,776,492   –    3,310,762 

 Total corporate bonds  2,556,178     2,541,662  –    5,097,840 
         

Equity securities: 
      United States  15,460,620  –    –    15,460,620 

     Total equity securities  15,460,620  –    –    15,460,620 
         

 972,870,52 $   – $ 266,197,2 $ 716,682,22 $ latoT
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6. Fair values of financial instruments (continued) 

The following table analyses, under the fair value hierarchy, the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value at December 31 2015: 

 latoT  3 leveL  2 leveL  1 leveL  5102

Financial Assets 
Money market funds $ 1,954,783 $ –    $ –    $ 1,954,783 

Government bonds: 
Canada  –     258,787     –     258,787    
United States  3,697,139  –     –     3,697,139 

 Total government bonds  3,697,139  258,787     –     3,955,926 
         

Corporate bonds: 
United Kingdom  –     787,508  –     787,508 
Norway  –     514,375  –     514,375 
Netherlands  –     268,077  –     268,077 
United States  –     2,660,037  –     2,660,037 

 Total corporate bonds  –     4,229,997  –     4,229,997 
         

Equity securities: 
   United States  17,053,393  –     –     17,053,393 

 443,072     –     –  443,072  learsI   
   Ireland  700,849  –     –     700,849 
   Switzerland  122,177  –     –     122,177 

     Total equity securities  18,146,763  –     –     18,146,763 
         

 964,782,82 $    – $ 487,884,4 $ 586,897,32 $ latoT
         

 There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
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6. Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund’s assets and liabilities (by class) not 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss at December 31, 2016 and 2015 but for which fair value is 
disclosed. 

2016 
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Assets
Other assets  –     7,224  –     7,224 
Interest and dividends 
 receivable  –     91,927  –     91,927 

Total $ –   $ 99,151 $ –    $ 99,151 
        

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and 
 accrued expenses $ –    $ 54,894 $ –    $ 54,894 
Redemptions payable  –     2,149  –     2,149 

Total $ –    $ 57,043 $ –    $ 57,043 
        

2015 
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Assets
Cash  $ 16 $ –    $ –    $ 16 
Other assets  –     5,692  –     5,692 
Interest and dividends 
 receivable  –     86,138  –     86,138 
Subscriptions receivable  –     30,000  –     30,000 

Total $ 16 $ 121,830 $ –    $ 121,846 
        

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and 
 accrued expenses $ –    $ 47,481 $ –    $ 47,481 
Redemptions payable  –     1,671  –     1,671 

Total $ –    $ 49,152 $ –    $ 49,152 
        

The assets and liabilities in the table above are carried at amortised cost; their carrying values are a reasonable 
approximation of fair value due to their short term nature. 

50



BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
GLOBAL BALANCED FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

6. Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

Interest and dividends receivable and other assets that are classified in Level 2 include other obligations due to 
the Fund. Accounts payable and accrued expenses and redemptions payable represent the contractual amounts 
and obligations due by the Fund for settlement of trades and expenses. 

7. Fees and expenses 

Management fees 
The Investment Manager of the Fund is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Fund, including 
managing the investment portfolio, providing investment analysis and making decisions relating to the 
investment of assets of the Fund. The Fund is responsible for the payment of a management fee to the 
Investment Manager for its services to the Fund equal to 1.10% per annum of the Net Asset Value (“NAV”) of 
the Fund, calculated weekly and payable monthly in arrears, effective March 31, 2016. Prior to March 31, 2016 
the rate was 1.25% per annum. During the year ended December 31, 2016, management fees totalled $293,420 
(2015: $391,890). As at December 31, 2016, management fees payable totalled $23,609 (2015: $30,259) and 
were included within accounts payable and accrued expenses on the statement of financial position. The 
Investment Manager compensates the Sub-Manager for performing its delegated duties. 

Administration fees 
The Administrator is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the weekly NAV of the 
Fund, and subject to an annual minimum fee of $30,000. The administration fee is calculated weekly and is 
payable monthly in arrears. Administration fees for the year ended December 31, 2016 totalled $32,000 (2015: 
$33,666). 

The Administrator and the Investment Manager are reimbursed by the Fund for other fees and expenses that are 
identifiable with the Fund. 

Custody fees 
BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the average weekly 
NAV of the Fund. The custody fee is calculated weekly and payable monthly. Custody fees for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 totalled $25,770 (2015: $31,352). 

Directors’ fees 
Each Director who is not an officer or employee of the Investment Manager or Sub-Manager receives a flat 
annual fee for serving in such capacity. The fee will be in accordance with reasonable and customary Directors’ 
fees. The Directors are entitled to reimbursement from the Fund for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred by them on behalf of the Fund. 

8. Share capital  

The Company has an authorised share capital as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 of $50,001 divided into 100 
Ordinary Shares of $0.01 par value each and 5,000,000 non-voting, Redeemable Participating Shares of $0.01 
par value each divided upon issue into Classes for each of the segregated portfolio funds. The Ordinary Shares 
of the Company are owned by the Investment Manager, and are the only shares of the Company with voting 
rights. The Company has authorised the issuance of up to 1,000,000 Class A Shares in the Fund. 
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8. Share capital (continued) 

The issued share capital of the Company and Fund is as follows: 

 5102 6102  
Number Par Value 

(US$) 
Number Par Value 

(US$) 

Issued and fully paid: 
Company 
Ordinary Shares 100 1 100 1

      
Fund
Class A Shares 

Balance at beginning of year 
Issued during the year 
Redeemed during the year 

252,202 
21,824 

(56,542) 

2,522 
218 

(565) 

286,336 
22,546 

(55,680) 

2,854 
225 

(557) 
Balance at end of year 217,484 2,175 252,202 2,522 

Each Class A Share represents a beneficial interest in the Fund ranking equally in all distributions when and as 
declared payable. An unlimited number of the Fund’s shares may be issued which are redeemable each 
Monday and at such other times as the Directors may determine in their discretion at the shareholders’ option at 
the then current NAV per share, in accordance with the terms of the Information Memorandum. 

Notwithstanding the redeemable shareholders’ rights to redemptions above, the Fund has the right, as set out in 
its Information Memorandum, to impose a redemption gate limit of 5% of the Class A Shares of the Fund or 
$100,000 in any redemption period in order to manage redemption levels and maintain the strength of the 
Fund’s capital base. 

In addition, no sales will be permitted within the first 90 days from initial purchase and a redemption fee of 2% 
will be assessed on Class A Shares redeemed within 12 months after their date of purchase and 1% on Class A 
Shares redeemed beyond 12 months, subject to a minimum fee of $25 per redemption request. The redemption 
fee will be shared equally between the Investment Manager and the Fund, and may be waived at the discretion 
of the Directors. 

The holders of the Ordinary Shares have a right to receive notice of, attend and vote as members at any general 
meeting of the Company. The Ordinary Shares are not entitled to dividends nor do they participate in the 
profits of neither the Company nor the Fund. On a liquidation of the Company, the general assets of the 
Company, being the assets of the Company which are not assets of the Segregated Portfolios, shall be available 
for distribution to the holders of the Ordinary Shares pro rata according to the number of Ordinary Shares held 
by them. The Ordinary Shares are held by the Investment Manager. 

The holders of the Class A Shares are not entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote as members at any 
general meeting of the Company. Holders of the Class A Shares are entitled to receive dividends and 
participate in the profits of the Fund. On a liquidation of the Fund, the holders of the Class A Shares have a 
right to participate in the surplus assets of the Fund after the payment of all creditors. 
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9. Income taxes

The Cayman Islands at present impose no taxes on profit, income, capital gains or appreciation in value of the 
Fund. In the event that such taxes are levied, the Fund has received an undertaking from the Governor-in-
Cabinet of Cayman Islands exempting it from all such taxes until July 25, 2026. As such, no provision for such 
taxes is included in the accompanying financial statements. 

The Fund may, however, be subject to foreign withholding tax and capital gains tax in certain jurisdictions in 
respect of income derived from its investments. 

10. Financial instruments and associated risks 

The Fund is exposed to a variety of financial risks in pursuing its stated investment objective and policy. These 
risks are defined in IFRS 7 as including market risk (which in turn includes price, interest rate and currency 
risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The Fund takes exposure to certain of these risks to generate investment 
returns on its portfolio, although these risks can also potentially result in a reduction in the Fund’s net assets. 
The Investment Manager will use its best endeavours to minimise the potential adverse effects of these risks on 
the Fund’s performance where it can do so while still managing the investments of the Fund in a way that is 
consistent with the Fund’s investment objective and policy. 

The risks, and the measures adopted by the Fund for managing these risks, are detailed below. 

(a) Price risk  

Market price risk is defined in IFRS as the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or its future 
cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market prices such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
equity prices and credit spreads.  

The Fund’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of fixed income securities, mutual 
funds, hedge funds and equity securities, the values of which are determined by market forces and there is 
accordingly a risk that market prices can change in a way that is adverse to the Fund’s performance. An 
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in the prices of fixed income securities, mutual funds, hedge funds 
and equity securities, with all other variables remaining constant, as at the reporting date would have 
increased or decreased net assets, respectively, by $236,843 (2015: $263,327). 

In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s positions on a daily 
basis and reports regularly to the Directors. The Directors then review the information on the Fund’s 
overall market exposures provided by the Investment Manager at its periodic meetings. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the overall market exposures and concentration of risk are limited to 
the amounts presented in the statement of financial position.  
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

 (b) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  

The Fund’s cash and cash equivalents and certain financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
interest bearing instruments. The Fund’s other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing. 

The Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk is detailed in the table below: 

 tseretni-noN  tseretnI   
 latoT  gniraeb  gniraeb  6102

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,394,010 $ –    $ 1,394,010 
Financial assets at fair value through 
   profit or loss  8,223,649  15,460,620  23,684,269 
Interest and dividends receivable  –     91,927  91,927 
Other assets  –     7,224  7,224 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  –     (54,894)  (54,894) 
Redemptions payable  –     (2,149)  (2,149) 

Total $ 9,617,659 $ 15,502,728 $ 25,120,387 
      

 tseretni-noN  tseretnI   
 latoT  gniraeb  gniraeb  5102

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,954,799 $ –    $ 1,954,799 
Financial assets at fair value through 
   profit or loss  8,185,923  18,146,763  26,332,686 
Interest and dividends receivable  –     86,138  86,138 
Subscriptions receivable  –     30,000  30,000 
Other assets  –     5,692  5,692 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  –     (47,481)  (47,481) 
Redemptions payable  –     (1,671)  (1,671) 

Total $ 10,140,722 $ 18,219,441 $ 28,360,163 
      

Should the interest bearing assets and liabilities held as of December 31, 2016, be held for a period of 12 
months, an increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables remaining 
constant, would have increased or decreased net assets by $96,177 (2015: $101,407). 
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

 (b) Interest rate risk (continued) 

A summary of the Fund’s fixed income holdings analysed by maturity date is as follows: 

2016  0-3 months 3-12 months  1 year +  Total 

Government bonds $ –    $ –    $ 3,125,809 $ 3,125,809 
Corporate bonds  1,004,980  2,045,045  2,047,815  5,097,840 

Total $ 1,004,980    2,045,045 $ 5,173,624 $ 8,223,649 
         

2015  0-3 months 3-12 months  1 year +  Total 

Government bonds $ –    $ 258,787    $ 3,697,139 $ 3,955,926 
Corporate bonds  500,423  24,844  3,704,730  4,229,997 

Total $ 500,423    283,631 $ 7,401,869 $ 8,815,923 
         

 (c) Currency risk  

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Fund invests in financial instruments and enters into transactions that are denominated in currencies 
other than its functional currency. The Fund is therefore exposed to currency risk, as the value of the 
securities denominated in other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. 

The Fund’s Investment Manager and the Sub-Manager meet on a bi-weekly basis in order to manage all 
relevant risks to the Fund’s investments, including currency risk. 

The fair values of the Fund’s total exposure to foreign currency and securities denominated in foreign 
currencies at December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 

  2016  2015 

Canadian Dollar   -  16 
  oruE - 153,199 

British Pound   -  547,650 

 $ - $ 700,865 
     

The Fund’s net assets would increase or decrease by $Nil (2015: $7,009) if the US dollar weakened or 
strengthened, respectively, by 100 basis points against the other currencies with all other variables 
remaining constant. 
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

 (d) Other price risk 

The Investment Manager monitors the concentration of risk for equity securities based on counterparties 
and industries [and geographic location as discussed in Note 6].  

The Fund’s equity securities are concentrated in the following industries: 

Investments in equity securities by industry   Year Ended December 31 
 5102 6102

%     %
Basic Materials             276,246  1.8                       -              -   
Communications          1,288,945  8.3          1,855,364          10.2  
Consumer, Cyclical             639,584  4.1          1,786,149            9.8  
Consumer, Non-cyclical          2,373,412  15.4          1,635,724            9.0  
Energy             786,902  5.1                       -              -   
Financial          2,407,647  15.6          3,345,692          18.4  
Funds          5,561,143  36.0          7,730,660          42.7  
Industrial          1,112,585  7.2                       -              -   
Technology             852,060  5.5          1,793,174            9.9  
Utilities             162,096  1.0                       -              -   

    $   15,460,620  100.0   $     18,146,763        100.0  

(e) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Fund’s financial assets are greater than the financial liabilities and 
the assets held are liquid in nature. All liabilities are expected to mature within twelve months of the 
reporting date. As such, the Fund’s management does not anticipate any material losses as a result of 
liquidity risk.  

 eerht ot enO  naht sseL   
 latoT  shtnom  htnom eno  6102

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ –    $ 54,894 $ 54,894 
 941,2     –  941,2  elbayap snoitpmedeR
 340,75 $ 498,45 $ 941,2 $ seitilibail latoT
           

     
 eerht ot enO  naht sseL   

 latoT  shtnom  htnom eno  5102
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ –    $ 47,481 $ 47,481 

 176,1     –  176,1  elbayap snoitpmedeR
 251,94 $ 184,74 $ 176,1 $ seitilibail latoT
           

As described in Note 8 to the financial statements, the Fund’s Class A shares are redeemable at the 
shareholder’s option on a weekly basis, and therefore the Fund is potentially exposed to weekly 
redemptions by its shareholders. 
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

 (f) Credit risk 

Credit risk is defined as the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss to 
the Fund by failing to discharge an obligation or commitment that it has entered into with the Fund.  

The majority of the Fund’s financial assets are held with Comercia Bank, which is rated “A3” (2015: 
“A3”) based on rating agency Moody’s ratings. Management regularly monitors the institution’s credit risk 
and does not anticipate any significant losses from this concentration. Furthermore, the Fund only invests 
in investment grade fixed-income securities. 

The Fund’s maxium credit risk exposure at the reporting date is $9,716,810 (2015: $10,262,552) which is 
the sum of the cash and cash equivalents, government bonds, corporate bonds, interest and dividends 
receivable, subscriptions receivable and other assets reported in the statement of financial position. 

The Investment Manager reviews the credit concentration of government bonds and corporate bonds held 
based on counterparties and industries [and geographic location as discussed in Note 6]. As at the reporting 
date, the Fund’s government bonds and corporate bonds exposures were concentrated in the following 
industries: 

Investments in fixed income securities by industry    Year Ended December 31 
 5102 6102

 %     %      
Communications 251,073           3.1              255,578            3.1  
Consumer, Cyclical 503,810           6.1              262,675            3.2  
Consumer, Non-cyclical 1,544,925         18.8           1,337,028          16.3  
Energy 1,279,198         15.6           1,303,175          15.9  
Financial 1,016,455         12.4              548,092            6.7  
Government 2,875,808         35.0           3,955,925          48.4  
Industrial 752,380           9.0              523,450            6.4  

  $     8,223,649       100.0            $  8,185,923        100.0  

The Investment Manager monitors the credit rating of debt securities on a continuous basis and actively 
reviews its investments to achieve profitable results. 

(g) Regulatory environment risk 

A changing regulatory environment, including, but not limited to, changes in relevant tax laws, securities 
laws, bankruptcy laws or accounting standards, may make the business of the Fund less profitable or 
unprofitable. The ability of the Fund to carry on business from the Cayman Islands or as a Cayman Islands 
Fund will depend upon its initial and continuing compliance with the relevant provisions of Cayman 
Islands law and, in particular, the Mutual Funds Law. Management regularly monitors the institution’s 
regulatory environment risk and does not anticipate any significant changes relevant to the Fund. 

(h) Dependence on the Investment Manager risk 

The Investment Manager is responsible for investing the assets of the Fund. The success of the Fund 
depends upon the ability of the Investment Manager to develop and implement investment strategies that 
achieve the Fund’s investment objectives.  
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11. Capital risk management  

At December 31, 2016 the Fund had $25,120,387 (2015: $28,360,163) of redeemable share capital classified as 
equity. The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets and can change significantly on a weekly basis 
as the Fund is subject to weekly subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion of the Directors. The Fund’s 
objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for holders of Class A shares and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain a strong 
capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the Fund. The Fund’s policies with 
respect to managing its capital risk are discussed in Note 8 above. There were no changes in the policies and 
procedures during the year with respect to the Fund’s approach to its redeemable share capital management. 

The Directors and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets. 

The Fund is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

12. Related party transactions 

As at December 31, 2016, the Directors of the Fund held 1,602 (2015: 1,608) Class A Shares in the Fund. As at 
December 31, 2016, persons or entities related to the Directors, the Investment Manager, or the Sub-Manager 
held 12.51% (2015: 10.46%) of the Class A Shares in the Fund. 

BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. earns trade commission revenue based on trades executed within the Fund’s normal 
course of business. For the year ended December 31, 2016 the total trade commissions earned amounted to 
$37,080. Commissions are calculated by BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. based on gross trade amount and security type. 
BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. also earns custody fees as previously described in Note 7.  

Management fees, commission fees, custody fees and Directors fees are considered related party transactions 
and are discussed in Note 7 above. 

BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. and the Sub-Manager are related to the Fund by virtue of common control. As of 
December 31, 2016 the Fund held no investments in unconsolidated structured entities. 

13. Subsequent events 

From January 1, 2017 through May 8, 2017 the Fund received subscriptions of $5,220,582 and paid 
redemptions of $4,956,298. 

Effective January 1, 2017 the Company appointed Beacon Fund Services (Cayman) Ltd. as the Fund’s 
Administrator, replacing Cayman National Fund Services Ltd. One of the directors of Beacon Fund Services 
(Cayman) Ltd. is also a director to the Fund. 
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INVESTMENT POLICY
The Segregated Portfolio (“the Fund”) employs a total return strategy but with an emphasis on generating higher levels of 
income than currently available from fixed income securities. Securities owned will be primarily common stocks with a 
history of raising dividends annually for at least five years. Such a strategy has provided higher returns with lower volatility 
than a broad large cap equity index over the long term.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
We are pleased to present the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Fund for the year ended December 31, 2016. 
The net asset value per share of the Fund increased from $97.23 as at 31st December 2015 to $100.94 as at 31st 
December 2016. This represents a total return after fees for the Fund of 3.82%. The total assets of the Fund have declined 
from $33.7 million at 31st December 2015 to $25.9 million as at 31st December 2016. BIAS Asset Management Ltd. (the 
“Manager”) ensured that the Fund maintained adequate liquidity through holding an appropriate portion of the Fund’s 
assets in cash.

ANNUAL REVIEW
The Fund is constructed to replicate ‘Dividend Aristocrats’ from the United States. Inclusion in the portfolio is dependent on 
the quality of each individual holding as well as the growth and sustainability of its dividend. Such companies’ stocks are 
attractive to yield-seeking investors as an alternative to low yielding bonds.

The performance of the Fund in 2016 was a tale of two halves. In the first half, the Fund outperformed as higher risk in the 
market due to concerns over global growth, slowdown in the Chinese economy, the fall in oil prices and Brexit increased 
the appeal of defensive stocks. However the attraction of high yield stocks faded in the second half as economic prospects 
improved and forecasts for inflation and growth were repriced after Trump’s dramatic victory in US presidential elections.

OUTLOOK
In 2017, we maintain a conservative stance on dividend payers as the economic cycle matures and the Fed continues on 
its path of gradually raising interest rates. We favor dividend growth stocks over high dividend yield stocks.

As a note, focus on ‘Dividend Aristocrats’ remains the foundation of equity selection in the Fund and limits our allocation in 
certain sectors and industries. Lack of dividend paying stocks in growth areas, such as the Information Technology and 
Healthcare sector, force an underweight versus the benchmark in these areas where we generally hold a positive view.
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Overall the Fund employs a total return strategy but with an emphasis on generating higher levels of income than currently 
available from fixed income securities. Securities owned will be primarily common stocks with a history of raising dividends 
annually for at least five years. Such a strategy has provided higher returns with lower volatility than a broad large cap 
equity index over the long term.

Suitable for investors that understand market risk with a long time horizon and an income objective.

Strategy Allocation

 
 

  

Sector Allocation

 Consumer, Non Cyclical
Consumer Cyclical
Industrials
Energy
Technology
Financials
Health Care
Funds
Basic Materials
Communications
Utilities

19.49%
14.30%
13.40%
11.58%

9.35%
7.97%
7.58%
5.16%
4.15%
4.10%
2.92%

 North America
Europe
Cash

94.7%
1.1%
4.2%

Fund Information

 

 

 

 

Inception Date

Base Currency

Benchmark

NAV per share

Subscriptions/Redemptions

Management Fee

Bloomberg Ticker

ISIN number

Cusip

September 28, 2012

USD

S&P 500 Index

$100.94

Weekly

1.25%

BIASGDI KY

KYG108811376

G10881137

Key Statistics

 

 

 

Number of Holdings

AUM

Standard Deviation

Sharpe Ratio

63

$25,895,061

11.22

0.92

Top Holdings

 

 

 

 

Apple Computer Inc.

Chevron Corp.

Exxon Mobil Corp.

PepsiCo Inc.

Energy Transfer Equity LP

AT&T INC

Automatic Data Processing  

Cintas Corp

Becton Dickinson & Co

Chubb Corp.

4.21%  

4.10%  

3.87%  

3.64%  

3.43%  

3.41%  

3.40%  

3.39%  

3.30%  

3.25%  
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of: 
BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC – BIAS Global Dividend Income Fund – US$ 
Segregated Portfolio

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC – BIAS Global 
Dividend Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, 
comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Fund as at December 31, 2016, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the 
Fund in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board of Accountants Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  The key 
audit matters identified for the audit of the Fund are as detailed on the following page: 
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Existence and valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Refer to the accounting policies and financial disclosures in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

Description of the key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our 
audit 

The Fund’s equity investment portfolio 
makes up 95% of total assets (by value) 
and is considered to be the key driver of the 
Fund’s capital and revenue performance. 
We do not consider these investments to be 
at high risk of significant misstatement, or to 
be subject to a significant level of judgment, 
because they comprise liquid, quoted 
investments that are held by third party 
custodians. However, due to their 
materiality in the context of the financial 
statements as a whole, they are considered 
of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements.  

Our procedures over the completeness, 
existence and valuation of the Fund’s 
quoted equity investment portfolio included, 
but were not limited to:

• Documenting the processes in place to 
record investment transactions and to value 
the portfolio;  

• Agreeing the valuation of 100% of the 
equity investment portfolio to externally 
quoted prices; and  

• Agreeing 100% of equity investment 
portfolio to independently received third 
party confirmations.  

No material exceptions were noted as part 
of our testing.  

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
letter from the Chairman and fact sheet, but does not include the financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting 
process.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
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and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tanis 
McDonald. 

May 8, 2017 
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   Note  2016  2015 

Assets
 160,103,3 $ 250,281,1 $  6 ,3 stnelaviuqe hsac dna hsaC

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5, 6, 11  24,775,393  30,423,042 
 605,81  291,52   elbaviecer sdnediviD
 296,5  604,7   stessa rehtO

 103,847,33 $ 340,099,52 $   stessa latoT
        

Equity
   464,3            $                565,2              $            8           latipac erahs elbameedeR

 112,203,43  853,436,52    muimerp erahS
  )744,026(  831,852    )ticifed(/sgninrae deniateR

       
Total equity (net assets)   $      25,895,061 $ 33,685,228 

          

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses                                     7  $ 60,158  61,798 

 572,1  428,43    elbayap snoitpmedeR
 Total liabilities $ 94,982 $ 63,073 

      

Total equity and liabilities  $ 25,990,043 $ 33,748,301 
         

 434,643  345,652  8 gnidnatstuo serahS I ssalC
         

   erahs rep eulav tessa teN $ 100.94 $ 97.23 
         

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

Authorised for issue on behalf of the Board of Directors on May 8, 2017 

     
ROBERT R. PIRES

   rotceriD

MARK J. MELVIN 
Director                                      
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 5102  6102  etoN   

Investment income 
 229,892,1 $ 038,387 $   sdnediviD
 773  727,4  4 emocni tseretnI
 922,12  828,63   emocni suoenallecsiM

Net realised loss on sale of financial assets 
 )877,417(  )002,123(  5 ssol ro tiforp hguorht eulav riaf ta 

Change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets 
 )122,862,2(  116,059,1  5 ssol ro tiforp hguorht eulav riaf ta    

 )174,266,1(  697,454,2    )ssol(/emocni tnemtsevni latoT 
        

Expenses 
 )563,435(  )705,114(  7 seef tnemeganaM
 )029,832(  )994,481(  01 esnepxe xat gnidlohhtiW
 )142,37(  )179,26(  7 seef noitartsinimda dna ydotsuC
 )186,16(  )542,66(   sesnepxe lareneg rehtO
 )100,5(  )057,3(  7 seef ’srotceriD

 )802,319(  )279,827(   sesnepxe latoT 
        

Profit/(Loss) for the year  )976,575,2( $ 428,527,1 $  
        

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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Redeemable  
Share 

Capital  
Share 

Premium

Retained  
Earnings/ 

(Deficit)   Total 

Balance as at December 31, 2014 $ 3,285   33,203,821   1,955,232   $ 35,162,338   
Total comprehensive loss 

for the year 
Loss for the year  - - (2,575,679)   (2,575,679) 
Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in equity 
Contributions, redemptions and 

distributions to shareholders 
Issue of Class I Shares  702 7,328,601 - 7,329,303 

  Redemption of Class I Shares  (523)   (5,384,808)   -   (5,385,331)   
 Dividends paid to shareholders - (845,403) -  (845,403) 
Total transactions with owners  179   1,098,390 - 1,098,569 

Balance as at December 31, 2015 $ 3,464   34,302,211   (620,447)   $ 33,685,228 
Total comprehensive income for the year  
Profit for the year - - 1,725,824    1,725,824   
Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in equity 
Contributions, redemptions and 

distributions to shareholders 
Issue of Class I Shares  211   2,077,976  - 2,078,187 

  Redemption of Class I Shares  (1,110)   (10,745,829)   -   (10,746,939) 
 Dividends paid to shareholders - - (847,239)  (847,239) 
Total transactions with owners  (899) (8,667,853) (847,239) (9,515,991) 

Balance as at December 31, 2016 $ 2,565   25,634,358   258,138   $ 25,895,061   

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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     2016  2015 

Cash flows from operating activities
 )976,575,2( $ 428,527,1 $ raey eht rof )ssoL(/tiforP

Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) to net cash provided 
 by operating activities: 

 )209,530,22(  )837,081,81(  stnemtsevni fo esahcruP 
 Proceeds from sale of invest 7,754,52  stnem 98  22,057,890 
 Net realised loss on financial assets  
 at fair value through profit or loss  321,200  805,499 
 Change in net unrealised (gain)/loss on financial assets 
 at fair value through profit or loss  (1,950,611)  2,268,221 
Change in operating assets and liabilities: 
 Dividends receivable  (6,686)  26,010 
 Other assets  (1,714)  (7) 
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses  (1,640)  2,413 

Net cash provided by operating activities  544,845  334,363,7  
       

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from subscriptions of Cla 32,1  serahS I ss 0,948  6,483,900 
Payments on redemptions of Class I Shares  (10,713,390)  (5,384,489) 

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities  (9,482,442)  1,099,411 
       

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (2,119,009)  1,647,856 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   502,356,1  160,103,3  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  160,103,3 $ 250,281,1 $ 
       

Supplemental information 
 773 $ 727,4 $ deviecer tseretnI
 151,023,1 $ 441,777 $ deviecer sdnediviD
 029,832 $ 994,481 $  diap sexaT

  snoitcasnart hsac noN
 )304,548( $ )932,748( $ sdnedivid demeeD

 304,548 $ 932,748 $ snoitpircsbus demeeD

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

1. Incorporation and principal activity 

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC (the “Company”) was incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company and 
registered as a segregated portfolio company under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on July 11, 
2006. The Company registered under the Mutual Funds Law of the Cayman Islands on November 21, 2006. The 
address of its registered office is Appleby Trust (Cayman) Ltd., Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, 
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.   

The Company established BIAS Global Dividend Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”), a 
segregated portfolio of assets, on September 28, 2012. The Fund commenced operations on September 28, 
2012.   

At December 31, 2016, the Company has four segregated portfolios, namely, the Fund, BIAS Global Balanced 
Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio, BIAS Short Duration Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio and BIAS 
Global Equities Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio. Additional segregated portfolios may be established by the 
Company in the future at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. As a matter of Cayman Islands law, the 
assets of one segregated portfolio will not be available to meet the liabilities of another. However, the Company 
is a single legal entity which may operate or have assets held on its behalf or be subject to claims in other 
jurisdictions which may not necessarily recognise such segregation. 

The Fund’s Class I shares are listed on the Cayman Islands Stock Exchange and the Bermuda Stock Exchange.  

The Fund is a segregated portfolio and a separate individually managed pool of assets constituting, in effect, a 
separate fund with its own investment objective. The assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the Company 
or other segregated portfolios are not included in these financial statements. BIAS Asset Management Ltd. (the 
“Investment Manager”), a related party through common directors, acts as the Fund’s Investment Manager 
under the Investment Management Agreement. The Investment Manager has entered into an agreement to 
delegate its duties to Bermuda Investment Advisory Services Limited (the “Sub-Manager”). BIAS (Cayman) 
Ltd. and Comerica Bank (the “Custodians”) act as the Fund’s custodians, and Cayman National Trust Co. Ltd. 
(the “Administrator”) acts as the Fund’s administrator. 

Assets are identified as either general Company or Segregated Portfolio assets. Those attributable to a 
segregated portfolio comprise assets representing the total equity attributable to the segregated portfolio and 
other assets attributable to or held within that segregated portfolio. They are held separately from, and are not 
comingled with, assets of the other segregated portfolios noted above. The general assets of the Company 
comprise a cash balance of $1, representing the amount received upon issuance of the Ordinary Shares (see 
Note 8). As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the general assets are not presented separately on the statement of 
financial position due to immateriality. No income or expenses have been attributed to the general assets to 
date. 

The objective of the Fund is to invest in a wide variety of global equity securities issued throughout the world. 
The Fund may invest in “growth” or “value” securities, securities that are considered to pay dividends on a 
consistent basis in excess of the average dividend paid by companies within the index which the Fund’s target 
investments are situated. 

2. Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. The 
accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the period and are consistent with prior year. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (a) Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”). 
The financial statements are presented in United States (“US”) dollars, which is also the Fund’s functional 
currency, and not the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Fund’s Class I Shares 
are issued in US dollars, and assets and liabilities are denominated in US dollars. 
The statement of financial position presents assets and liabilities in decreasing order of liquidity and do not 
distinguish between current and non-current items. All of the Fund’s assets and liabilities are held for the 
purpose of being traded or are expected to be realised within one year.  

These financial statements are prepared on a fair value basis for financial assets and liabilities held at fair 
value through profit or loss. Other financial assets and liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities are 
stated at amortised cost or redemption amount which is considered to approximate fair value due to the 
short-term nature of these assets and liabilities.

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 
January 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. The only new standard 
relevant to the Fund is IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which is discussed below. The Fund does not plan to 
adopt IFRS 9 early. 

(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9, published in July 2014, will replace the existing guidance in IAS 39. It includes revised 
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new expected 
credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge accounting 
requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial 
instruments from IAS 39. 

IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early 
adoption permitted. Based on the initial assessment, this standard is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Fund. 

(b) Investment income and expense 
Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and is reported gross of withholding tax and the 
corresponding withholding tax is recognised as a tax expense. Bank interest income and expense is 
accounted for on the accrual basis.  

(c)  Financial assets and liabilities 

(i) Classification 
 In accordance with IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, all investments are 

classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, under the sub-category of 
financial assets and liabilities held for trading. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(i) Classification (continued) 
 Financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost which includes 

cash and cash equivalents, other assets and dividends receivable. Financial liabilities that are not at fair 
value through profit or loss are carried at amortised cost and include accounts payable and redemptions 
payable. 

(ii) Recognition/derecognition
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date – the date on which the Fund 
commits to purchase or sell the investment. Other financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the 
date the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 Investments and other financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or the Fund has transferred all risk and rewards of ownership. The Fund 
derecognises a financial liability when its contracted obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 Gains and losses on the disposal of financial assets and liabilities are computed on a first-in, first-out 
basis (“FIFO”) and are included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise within net realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Movements 
in unrealised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income within change in net unrealised (loss)/gain on financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

(iii) Measurement 
 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, 

with transaction costs recognised in profit or loss. Other financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue. 
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its 
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Fund has access at that date. 

       Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss category are presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost, less impairment 
losses, if any. 

(iv) Fair value measurement principles 
The Fund’s investments are valued on Friday of each week and at each month-end (the “Valuation 
Date”). In accordance with IFRS 13, for those financial assets and liabilities, at fair value through 
profit and loss, which have a quoted price in an active market, the Fund uses the last traded price in 
cases where the last traded price falls within the bid-ask spread. Where the last traded price falls 
outside the bid-ask spread, the bid price is used for long securities and the ask price for securities held 
short. There were no listed financial equity instruments for which quotations were not readily available 
in active markets on a recognised public stock exchange during any of the periods presented. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(v) Identification and measurement of impairment 
A financial asset not classified at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset is impaired if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that loss event had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset that can be estimated reliably. 

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income when incurred. Interest on impaired assets continues to be recognised. When a 
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is 
reversed through the statement of comprehensive income. There are no impairments for the year ended 
December 31, 2016. 

     (d) Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Fund has legal right to offset the amounts and it intends either to settle 
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are 
presented on a net basis for gains and losses from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
and foreign exchange gains and losses. There is no offsetting in the statement of financial position at 
December 31, 2016. 

     (e) Operating expenses
The Fund is responsible for all normal operating expenses including audit fees, stamp and other duties and 
charges incurred on the acquisition and realisation of investments. All expenses are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income on the accruals basis. 

    (f) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include money market investments, and balances held with the investment 
broker with maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in their fair value.  

     
     (g) Share capital 

The Fund classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments. 

Ordinary Shares are classified as share capital of the Company. The Class I Shares are the most subordinate 
class of financial instruments in the Fund.  The Class I Shares provide investors with the right to require 
redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Fund’s net assets at each weekly 
redemption date and also in the event of the Fund’s liquidation. 

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligation for the Fund to repurchase or redeem 
that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as equity, if it meets all of the following 
conditions: 

it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net assets in the event of the Fund’s 
liquidation; 

it is in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments; 

72



BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
DIVIDEND INCOME FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

     (g)     Share capital (continued)

all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of 
instruments have identical features; 

apart from the contractual obligation for the Fund to repurchase or redeem the instrument for 
cash or another financial asset, the instrument does not include any other features that would 
require classification as a liability; and 

the total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based substantially on 
the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change in the fair value of the 
recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Fund over the life of the instrument. 

The Fund’s Class I Shares meet these conditions and are classified as equity. 

When Class I Shares recognised as equity are redeemed, the par value of the shares is presented as a 
deduction from redeemable share capital.  Any premium or discount to par value is recognised as an 
adjustment to shares premium, or if insufficient to retained earnings. Redemptions payable are classified as 
financial liabilities and are measured at the present value of the redemption amounts.  

      (h) Foreign currency 
Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than US dollars are translated at exchange rates 
prevailing at the year-end date. Transactions in other currencies during the period are translated to US 
dollars at the rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. The resulting profits or losses are disclosed in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign exchange 
loss, except for those arising on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are 
recognised as a component of net realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
or change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

     (i) Use of estimates and judgments 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
Management does not believe that the estimates and assumptions have a significant risk of causing material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

3. Cash and cash equivalents 
     2016  2015 

 628,12 $ 657,21 $   rekorb ta hsaC
Money market funds held at broker    1,169,296  3,279,235 

   latoT $ 1,182,052 $ 3,301,061 
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4. Interest income 
2016 2015

Interest income on financial assets carried at amortised cost: 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,727                           773

4,727$          377$             

5. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

The following tables summarise financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss as at December 31, 
2016 and 2015 and the related changes as presented in the statements of financial position and comprehensive 
income: 

2016 
   Cost Fair value

Financial assets held for trading: 
 393,577,42 $ 770,054,22 $   seitiruces ytiuqE  

 Net realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value 
    through profit or loss: 

 )002,123( $ seitiruces ytiuqE  
         

   latoT $ (321,200)  
       

Change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at 
 fair value through profit or loss: 

   116,059,1 $ seitiruces ytiuqE  

2015 
   Cost Fair value

Financial assets held for trading: 
 240,324,03 $ 056,740,03 $   seitiruces ytiuqE  

 Net realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value 
    through profit or loss: 

 )330,078( $ seitiruces ytiuqE  
        Forward foreign currency contracts    155,255  

   latoT $ 714,778  
       

Change in net unrealised (loss)/gain on financial assets at 
 fair value through profit or loss: 

  )122,862,2( $ seitiruces ytiuqE  

The net realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represents the difference 
between the acquisition price, or the carrying amount of a financial instrument and its sale/settlement price. The 
change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit and loss represents the 
difference between the acquisition price, or carrying amount of the respective financial instrument at the 
beginning of the period, and its carrying amount at the end of the period.  
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6. Fair value measurements 

The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in measuring fair value: 

Level 1: Inputs are unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the Fund has the ability to access at the valuation date. An active market for the asset or liability is 
a market in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and volume 
to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. Fair value is determined through the use of models or other 
valuation methodologies. Level 2 inputs include the following: 

a) Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets.  

b) Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, that is, 
markets in which there are few transactions for the asset or liability, the prices are not current, 
or price quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers, or in which 
little information is released publicly. 

c) Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (e.g. interest rate 
and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, volatilities, prepayment speeds, 
loss severities, credit risks and default rates). 

d) Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 
correlation or other means. 

Level 3:  Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs reflect the Fund’s own 
assumptions about how market participants would be expected to value the asset or liability. 
Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances, 
other than market data obtained from sources independent of the Fund and might include the 
Fund’s own data. 

An investment is always categorised as Level 1, 2 or 3 in its entirety. In certain cases, the fair 
value measurement for an investment may use a number of different inputs that fall into different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment’s level within the fair value 
hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires 
judgment and is specific to the investment. 

75



BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
DIVIDEND INCOME FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

6. Fair value measurements (continued)

The following table analyses, within the fair value hierarchy, the Fund’s financial assets measured at fair value 
at December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

 latoT 3 leveL 2 leveL 1 leveL 6102

Financial Assets 
Money market funds $ 1,169,296 $ –    $ –    $  1,169,296 

Equity securities: 
 United States  24,141,998  –     –     24,141,998 

 409,273     –     –  409,273  adanaC 
           United Kingdom  122,863  –     –     122,863 

 826,731     –     –  826,731  dnalerI 

 Total equity securities  24,775,393  –     –     24,775,393 
          

 986,449,52 $    – $    – $ 986,449,52 $ latoT 
          

 There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year ended December 31, 2016. 

 latoT 3 leveL 2 leveL 1 leveL 5102

Financial Assets 
Money market funds $ 3,279,235 $ –    $ –    $  3,279,235 

Equity securities: 
 United States  25,930,359  –     –     25,930,359 

 980,616     –     –  980,616  adanaC 
 466,159,2     –     –  466,159,2  dnalerI 

 Switzerland  924,930  –     –     924,930 

 Total equity securities  30,423,042  –     –     30,423,042 
          

 772,207,33 $    – $    – $ 772,207,33 $ latoT 
          

 There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year ended December 31, 2015. 
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6. Fair value measurements (continued) 

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund’s assets and liabilities (by class) not 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss at December 31, 2016 and 2015 but for which fair value is 
disclosed. 

 latoT  3 leveL  2 leveL  1 leveL  6102

Assets
 657,21 $    – $    – $ 657,21 $ hsaC

Dividends receivable  –     25,192  –     25,192 
Other assets  –     7,406  –     7,406 

 453,54 $    – $ 895,23 $ 657,21 $ latoT
         

Liabilities 
Redemption payable $ –    $ 34,824 $ –    $ 34,824 
Accounts payable and 
 accrued expenses  –     60,158 $ –     60,158 

 289,49 $    – $ 289,49 $    – $ latoT
         

 latoT  3 leveL  2 leveL  1 leveL  5102

Assets
 628,12 $    – $    – $ 628,12 $ hsaC

Dividends receivable  –     18,506  –     18,506 
Other assets  –     5,692  –     5,692 

 420,64 $    – $ 891,42 $ 628,12 $ latoT
         

Liabilities 
Redemption payable $ –    $ 1,275 $ –    $ 1,275 
Accounts payable and 
 accrued expenses  –     61,798 $ –     61,798 

 370,36 $    – $ 370,36 $    – $ latoT
         

The assets and liabilities in the table above are carried at amortised cost; their carrying values are a reasonable 
approximation of fair value, due to their short term nature. 

Dividends receivable and other assets classified in Level 2 include other obligations due to the Fund. Accounts 
payable and accrued expenses, due to broker and redemption payable represent the contractual amounts and 
obligations due by the Fund for settlement of expenses. 
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7. Fees and expenses  

Management fees 
The Investment Manager of the Fund is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Fund, including 
managing the investment portfolio, providing investment analysis and making decisions relating to the 
investment of assets of the Fund. The Fund is responsible for the payment of a management fee to the 
Investment Manager for its services to the Fund equal to 1.25% per annum of the Net Asset Value (“NAV”) of 
the Fund, calculated weekly and payable monthly in arrears, effective September 2016. Between March 31, 
2016 and September 30, 2016 the rate was 1.35% per annum. Prior to March 31, 2016 the rate was 1.50% per 
annum. During the year ended December 31, 2016, management fees totalled $411,507 (2015: $534,365). As at 
December 31, 2016, management fees payable totalled $27,752 (2015: $42,934) and were included within 
accounts payable and accrued expenses on the statement of financial position. The Investment Manager 
compensates the Sub-Manager for performing its delegated duties. 

Administration fees 
The Administrator is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the weekly NAV of the 
Fund, and subject to an annual minimum fee of $30,000. The administration fee is calculated weekly and is 
payable monthly in arrears. Administration fees for the year ended December 31, 2016 totalled $32,836 (2015: 
$37,620). 

The Administrator and the Investment Manager are reimbursed by the Fund for other fees and expenses that are 
identifiable with the Fund.  

Custody fees 
BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the average weekly 
NAV of the Fund. The custody fee is calculated weekly and payable monthly in arrears. Custody fees for the 
year ended December 31, 2016 totalled $30,135 (2015: $35,620). 

Directors’ fees 
Each Director who is not an officer or employee of the Investment Manager or Sub-Manager receives a flat 
annual fee for serving in such capacity. The fee will be in accordance with reasonable and customary Directors’ 
fees. The Directors are entitled to reimbursement from the Fund for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred by them on behalf of the Fund. 

8. Share capital  

The Company has an authorised share capital as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 of $50,001 divided into 100 
Ordinary Shares of $0.01 par value each and 5,000,000 non-voting, Redeemable Participating Shares of $0.01 
par value each divided upon issue into Classes for each of the segregated portfolio funds. The Ordinary Shares 
of the Company are owned by the Investment Manager, and are the only shares of the Company with voting 
rights. The Company has authorised the issuance of up to 1,000,000 Class I Shares in the Fund. 
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8. Share capital (continued) 

The issued share capital of the Company and Fund is as follows: 

 5102 6102  
Number Par Value 

(US$) 
Number Par Value 

(US$) 
     

Issued and fully paid: 
Company 
Ordinary Shares 100 1 100 1

      
Fund
Class I Shares 

Balance at beginning of year 
Issued during the year 
Redeemed during the year 

346,434 
21,120 

(111,011) 

3,464 
211 

(1,110) 

328,512 
70,222 

(52,300) 

3,285 
702 

(523) 
Balance at end of year 256,543 2,565 346,434 3,464 

Each Class I Share represents a beneficial interest in the Fund ranking equally in all distributions when and as 
declared payable. An unlimited number of the Fund’s shares may be issued which are redeemable each Monday 
and at such other times as the Directors may determine in their discretion at the shareholders’ option at the then 
current NAV per share, in accordance with the terms of the Information Memorandum. 

Notwithstanding the redeemable shareholders’ rights to redemptions above, the Fund has the right, as set out in 
its Information Memorandum, to impose a redemption gate limit of 5% of the Class I Shares of the Fund or 
$100,000 in any redemption period in order to manage redemption levels and maintain the strength of the 
Fund’s capital base. 

In addition, no sales will be permitted within the first 90 days from initial purchase and a redemption fee of 2% 
will be assessed on Class I Shares redeemed within 12 months after their date of purchase and 1% on Class I 
Shares redeemed beyond 12 months, subject to a minimum fee of $25 per redemption request. The redemption 
fee will be shared equally between the Investment Manager and the Fund, and may be waived at the discretion 
of the Directors. 

The holders of the Ordinary Shares have a right to receive notice of, attend and vote as members at any general 
meeting of the Company. The Ordinary Shares are not entitled to dividends nor do they participate in the profits 
of neither the Company nor the Fund. On a liquidation of the Company, the general assets of the Company, 
being the assets of the Company which are not assets of the Segregated Portfolios, shall be available for 
distribution to the holders of the Ordinary Shares pro rata according to the number of Ordinary Shares held by 
them. The Ordinary Shares are held by the Investment Manager. 

The holders of the Class I Shares are not entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote as members at any general 
meeting of the Company. Holders of the Class I Shares are entitled to receive dividends and participate in the 
profits of the Fund. On a liquidation of the Fund, the holders of the Class I Shares have a right to participate in 
the surplus assets of the Fund after the payment of all creditors. 
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9.  Distributions 

The Fund intends to make quarterly distributions of substantially all or a portion of its dividend income earned 
to investors. The Fund at its discretion may pay out less than the entire amount of net investment income earned 
in a particular period and may at times pay out such accumulated undistributed income earned in other periods 
in order to permit the Fund to maintain a more stable level of distributions. The Fund may also make additional 
distributions of capital gains at the Board of Directors’ discretion. 

Distributions may be payable in cash or in additional Class I Shares at each investor’s election. 

During the year ended December 31, 2016 distributions totalling $847,239 (2015: $845,403) were paid in 
additional Class I shares at the investors’ election. 

10. Income taxes 

The Cayman Islands at present impose no taxes on profit, income, capital gains or appreciation in value of the 
Fund. In the event that such taxes are levied, the Company has received an undertaking from the Governor-in-
Cabinet of Cayman Islands exempting it from all such taxes until July 25, 2026. As such, no provision for such 
taxes is included in the accompanying financial statements. 

The Fund may, however, be subject to foreign withholding tax and capital gains tax in certain jurisdictions in 
respect of income derived from its investments. 

11. Financial instruments and associated risks 

The Fund is exposed to a variety of financial risks in pursuing its stated investment objective and policy. These 
risks are defined in IFRS 7 as including market risk (which in turn includes price, interest rate and currency 
risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The Fund takes exposure to certain of these risks to generate investment 
returns on its portfolio, although these risks can also potentially result in a reduction in the Fund’s net assets. 
The Investment Manager will use its best endeavours to minimise the potential adverse effects of these risks on 
the Fund’s performance where it can do so while still managing the investments of the Fund in a way that is 
consistent with the Fund’s investment objective and policy.  

The risks, and the measures adopted by the Fund for managing these risks, are detailed below. 

(a) Price risk  

Market price risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or its future 
cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  

The Fund’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of equity securities, the values of 
which are determined by market forces and there is accordingly a risk that market prices can change in a 
way that is adverse to the Fund’s performance. An increase or decrease of 100 basis points in the prices of 
equity securities, with all other variables remaining constant, as at the reporting date would have increased 
or decreased net assets by $247,754 (2015: $304,230). 

In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s positions on a daily 
basis and reports regularly to the Directors, which reviews the information on the Fund’s overall market 
exposures provided by the Investment Manager at its periodic meetings. 

As at December 31, 2016, the overall market exposures and concentration of risk are limited to the amounts 
presented in the statement of financial position. 
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11. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

(b) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Fund’s only interest-bearing financial asset or liability is 
cash and cash equivalents of $1,182,052 (2015: $3,301,061). Should the year end cash and cash equivalents 
be held for a period of 12 months, an increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other 
variables remaining constant, as at the reporting date would have increased or decreased net assets by 
$11,821 (2015: $33,011). 

The Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk is detailed in the table below: 
 Interest  Non-interest 

2016  bearing  bearing  Total 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,182,052 $ –    $ 1,182,052 
Financial assets at fair value through 
   profit or loss  –     24,775,393  24,775,393 
Dividends receivable  –     25,192  25,192 
Other assets  –     7,406  7,406 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  –     (60,158)  (60,158) 
Redemptions payable  –     (34,824)  (34,824) 

Total $ 1,182,052 $ 24,713,009 $ 25,895,061 
      

 tseretni-noN  tseretnI   
 latoT  gniraeb  gniraeb  5102

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,301,061 $ –    $ 3,301,061 
Financial assets at fair value through 
   profit or loss  –     30,423,042  30,423,042 
Dividends receivable  –     18,506  18,506 
Other assets  –     5,692  5,692 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  –     (61,798)  (61,798) 
Redemptions payable  –     (1,275)  (1,275) 
Total $ 3,301,061 $ 30,384,167 $ 33,685,228 

      

(c) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Fund holds assets denominated in currencies other than US dollars, the functional currency of the 
Fund. The Fund is therefore exposed to currency risk, as the value of the securities denominated in other 
currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. 

The Fund’s Investment Manager and the Sub-Manager meet on a bi-weekly basis in order to manage all 
relevant risks to the Fund’s investments, including currency risk. 

The fair values of the Fund’s total exposure to foreign currency and securities denominated in foreign 
currencies at December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

  2016  2015 
Australian Dollar  $ - $ 156 
Canadian Dollar   373,437  616,862 
Swiss Franc   -  91

  oruE - 1,976,588 
British Pound   -  311,262 

  latoT $ 373,437 $ 2,904,959 
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11. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

(c) Currency risk (continued) 

The Fund’s net assets would increase or decrease by $3,734 (2015: $29,050) if the US dollar weakened or 
strengthened, respectively, by 100 basis points against the other currencies with all other variables 
remaining constant. 

(d) Other price risk 

The Investment Manager monitors the concentration of risk for equity and debt securities based on 
counterparties and industries [and geographic location as discussed in Note 6]. The Fund’s equity securities 
are concentrated in the following industries. 

The following table shows equity securities analysed by industry: 

Investments in equity securities by industry   Year Ended December 31  
 5102 6102
 %     %      

Basic Materials              1,028,094              4.1               1,002,647              3.3  
Communications              1,015,327              4.1               -              -  
Consumer, Cyclical              3,543,759            14.3               4,094,107  13.5  
Consumer, Non-cyclical              4,828,095            19.5               7,243,312            23.8  
Energy              2,868,566            11.6               1,102,213              3.6  
Financial              1,974,213              8.0               3,678,909            12.1  
Funds              1,278,491              5.2               8,228,795            27.0  
Healthcare 1,877,413 7.6               -              -  
Industrial              3,319,483            13.4               2,704,256            8.9  
Technology              2,316,569              9.4               2,368,803              7.8  
Utilities                 725,383              2.8                            -                -  

   $        24,775,393          100.0     $        30,423,042          100.0  

(e) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash and another financial asset. 
As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the Fund’s financial assets are greater than the financial liabilities and 
investments held are liquid in nature. All liabilities are expected to mature within twelve months of the 
statement of financial position date. As such, the Fund’s management does not anticipate any material 
losses as a result of liquidity risk.  

Less than One to three 
 eno 6102 month months Total 

Redemption payable $               34,824 $  - $              34,824 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  -  60,158  60,158 

 289,49 $ 851,06 $ 428,43 $  seitilibail latoT
        

  eerht ot enO naht sseL 
 latoT shtnom htnom eno 5102

 572,1              $ -  $ 572,1               $ elbayap noitpmedeR
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  -  61,798  61,798 
Total liabilities  $ 1,275 $ 61,798 $ 63,073 
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11. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

(e) Liquidity risk (continued) 

As described in Note 8 to the financial statements, the Fund’s Class A Shares are redeemable at the 
shareholder’s option on a weekly basis, and therefore the Fund is potentially exposed to weekly 
redemptions by its shareholders. 

 (f) Credit risk 

Credit risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss 
for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  

The majority of the Fund’s financial assets are held with Comerica Bank, which is rated “A3” (2015: “A3”) 
based on rating agency Moody’s ratings. Management regularly monitors the institution’s credit risk and 
does not anticipate any significant losses from this concentration.  

The Fund’s maximum credit exposure at the reporting date is $1,214,650 (2015: $3,325,259) which is the 
sum of the cash and cash equivalents, dividends receivable and other assets reported in the statement of 
financial position. 

 (g) Regulatory environment risk 

A changing regulatory environment, including, but not limited to, changes in relevant tax laws, securities 
laws, bankruptcy laws or accounting standards, may make the business of the Fund less profitable or 
unprofitable. The ability of the Fund to carry on business from the Cayman Islands or as a Cayman Islands 
Fund will depend upon its initial and continuing compliance with the relevant provisions of Cayman 
Islands law and, in particular, the Mutual Funds Law. Management regularly monitors the institution’s 
regulatory environment risk and does not anticipate any significant changes to the Fund. 

(h) Dependence on the Investment Manager risk 

The Investment Manager is responsible for investing the assets of the Fund. The success of the Fund 
depends upon the ability of the Investment Manager to develop and implement investment strategies that 
achieve the Fund’s investment objectives.  

12. Capital risk management 

At December 31, 2016 the Fund had $25,895,061 (2015: 33,685,228) of redeemable share capital classified as 
equity. The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets of the Fund. The amount of net assets can change 
significantly on a weekly basis as the Fund is subject to weekly subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion 
of the Directors. The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for holders of Class I Shares and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the Fund. The Fund’s 
policies with respect to managing its capital risk are discussed in Note 8 above. There were no changes in the 
policies and procedures during the year with respect to the Fund’s approach to its redeemable share capital 
management. 

The Directors and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of the net assets of the Fund. 

The Fund is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
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13. Related party transactions  

As at December 31, 2016, the Directors of the Fund held 2,380 (2015: 2,573) Class I Shares in the Fund. As at 
December 31, 2016, persons or entities related to the Directors, the Investment Manager, or the Sub-Manager 
held 14.37% (2015: 9.52%) of the Class I Shares in the Fund. 

BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. earns trade commission revenue based on trades executed within the Fund’s normal course 
of business. For the year ended December 31, 2016 the total trade commissions earned amounted to $58,079. 
Commissions are calculated by BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. based on the gross trade amount and security type. BIAS 
(Cayman) Ltd. also earns custody fees as previously described in Note 7. 

BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. and the Sub-Manager are related to the Fund by virtue of common control. 

Management fees, commission fees, custody fees and Directors fees are considered related party transactions 
and are discussed in Note 7 above. 

14.  Subsequent events 

From January 1, 2017 through May 8, 2017 the Fund received subscriptions of $2,287,016 and paid 
redemptions of $10,178,462. 

Effective January 1, 2017 the Company appointed Beacon Fund Services (Cayman) Ltd. as the Fund’s 
Administrator, replacing Cayman National Fund Services Ltd. One of the directors of Beacon Fund Services 
(Cayman) Ltd. is also a director of the Fund. 

84





BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
GLOBAL EQUITIES FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

Robert R. Pires
Chairman
BIAS Global Portfolios SPC
BIAS Global Equities Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio
June 20, 2017

INVESTMENT POLICY
The Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”) seeks to achieve its goal by investing in a wide variety of global equity securities 
issued throughout the world. The Fund is managed as a core global equity product and is not constrained by a particular 
investment style.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
We are pleased to present the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Fund for the year ended 31st December 
2016. The net asset value per share of the Fund increased from $96.43 as at 31st December 2015 to $99.85 as at 31st 
December 2016. This represents a total return after fees for the Fund of 3.55% for the calendar year. The total assets of 
the Fund declined from $19.0 million at 31st December 2015 to $17.2 million at 31st December 2016.

ANNUAL REVIEW
Global equity markets declined sharply at the start of the year due to concerns over global growth, slowdown in the Chinese 
economy and the fall in oil prices. These fears started to ebb in the second quarter as a combination of central bank 
accommodation and better US economic data revived investor’s confidence. In June, markets were surprised by the UK’s 
Brexit vote to leave the European Union which ignited fears that other nations may hold a similar referendum to depart the 
EU. Markets however quickly recovered from the shock as investors realized that any fallout from the decision is likely to be 
local rather than global. Also supporting the market during the third quarter was the strength in the US economy and 
improving corporate earnings. Momentum continued in the fourth quarter with major indexes in the US touching an all-time 
high as intermediate forecasts for growth and inflation were repriced after Trump’s dramatic victory in the US presidential 
election. Financials rose sharply due to the perceived benefits of higher bond yields. Our stock selection in Financials and 
Consumer Staples added the most value to the portfolio performance during this period. Meanwhile, stock selection in 
Information Technology and an overweight position in the Healthcare sector detracted from performance.
 
OUTLOOK
In 2017, we are optimistic on the outlook for global equities amid a gradually improving cyclical backdrop, reacceleration 
in corporate earnings, and a pragmatic approach by the Fed. Politics and policy action may dominate headlines in 2017 
but should not materially threaten the outlook for cyclical acceleration. Within sectors we are overweight Information 
Technology, Financials, Health Care and Energy. Rising interest rates, hopes of a less onerous regulatory environment, 
potential corporate tax reform, improving earnings revisions trend, and reasonable valuations are supportive of these 
pro-growth sectors.
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Geographic Allocation Sector Allocation

The Fund seeks to maximize long-term capital appreciation via investment in a diverse mix of global securities. A strict top 
down approach is applied with a focus on macro economic analysis. Strategic allocations are made in various 
geographic,sector, style, and market capitalizations to exploit long-term trends and minimize risk.

Suitable for investors who have a higher tolerance for risk and a long time horizon.

*Prior to April 1, 2012 benchmark was FTSE World Equity Index.

Fund Information

 

 

 

 

Inception Date

Base Currency 

Benchmark*

NAV per share

Subscriptions/Redemptions

Management Fee

December 29, 2006

USD

S&P Global 1200*

$99.85

Weekly

1.55%

Key Statistics

 

Number of Holdings

AUM

Standard Deviation

Sharpe Ratio

37

$17,167,177

$13.62

+0.58

Top Holdings

 

 

 

 

 Financials
Industrials
Communications
Health Care
Consumer Cyclical
Technology
Energy
Consumer, Non Cyclical
Basic Material
Cash
Utilities

27.19%
13.10%

 12.01%
10.20%
 9.22%
8.12%
7.63%
6.41%
2.63%
 2.30%
1.19%

Wisdomtree Japan Hedged Equity Fund   9.4%  

Wisdomtree Europe Hedged Equity Fund   7.7%  

PowerShares KBW Bank     6.4%  

iShares Currency Hedge MSCI UK    4.7%  

iShares U.S. Home Construction ETF    3.5%  

Goldman Sachs Group Inc.     3.3%  

J P Morgan Chase & Co.     3.2%  

Hain Celestial Group Inc     3.1%  

Industrial Select Sect SPDR ETF    3.0%  

Apple Computer Inc.     2.9%  

 North America
Europe
Japan
Australia
Emerging Asia  
Other
Cash

72.30%
15.00%

9.70%
0.12%
0.08%
0.50%
2.30%
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of: 
BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC – BIAS Global Equities Fund – US$ Segregated 
Portfolio

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC – BIAS Global 
Equities Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”), which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statements of comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Fund as at December 31, 2016, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the 
Fund in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board of Accountants Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  The key 
audit matters identified for the audit of the Fund are as detailed on the following page: 
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Existence and valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Refer to the accounting policies and financial disclosures in the notes to the financial 
statements.   

Description of the key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our 
audit 

The Fund’s equity investment portfolio 
makes up 98% of total assets (by value) 
and is considered to be the key driver of the 
Fund’s capital and revenue performance. 
We do not consider these investments to be 
at high risk of significant misstatement, or to 
be subject to a significant level of judgment, 
because they comprise liquid, quoted 
investments that are held by third party 
custodians. However, due to their 
materiality in the context of the financial 
statements as a whole, they are considered 
of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements.  

Our procedures over the completeness, 
existence and valuation of the Fund’s 
quoted equity investment portfolio included, 
but were not limited to:

• Documenting the processes in place to 
record investment transactions and to value 
the portfolio;  

• Agreeing the valuation of 100% of the 
equity investment portfolio to externally 
quoted prices; and  

• Agreeing 100% of the equity investment 
portfolio to independently received third 
party confirmations.  

No material exceptions were noted as part 
of our testing.  

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
letter from the Chairman and fact sheet, but does not include the financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting 
process.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
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and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tanis 
McDonald. 

May 8, 2017 
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   Note   2016  2015 

Assets
 732,229,1 $ 285,293 $ 6 ,3 stnelaviuqe hsac dna hsaC

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5, 6, 10  16,803,009  17,051,173 
 193,3  454,21   elbaviecer sdnediviD
 296,5  075,5   stessa rehtO

 394,289,81 $ 516,312,71 $   stessa latoT
        

Equity
 649,1 $ 917,1 $ 8 latipac erahs elbameedeR
 485,418,71  088,196,51   muimerp erahS
 103,749  875,374,1    sgninrae deniateR

       
Total equity (net assets)   $      17,167,177 $ 18,763,831 
          

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7 $ 44,156 $ 217,475 

 781,1  282,2    elbayap snoitpmedeR

  seitilibail latoT $ 46,438 $ 218,662 
        

Total equity and liabilities   $ 17,213,615 $ 18,982,493 
         

 785,491  839,171   8 gnidnatstuo serahS A ssalC
         

   erahs rep eulav tessa teN $ 99.85 $ 96.43 
         

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

Authorised for issue on behalf of the Board of Directors on May 8, 2017: 

     
ROBERT R. PIRES 

   rotceriD

     NIVLEM .J KRAM
Director                                      
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   Note  2016  2015 
Investment income 

 912,484 $ 104,713 $    sdnediviD
 011  132  4 emocni tseretnI
 812,9  588,81   emocni suoenallecsiM

Net realised loss on sale of financial assets 
 )364,44(  )374,144(  5 ssol ro tiforp hguorht eulav riaf ta 

Change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets 
 )531,719(  999,311,1  5 ssol ro tiforp hguorht eulav riaf ta 
 )046,6(  -   ssol egnahcxe ngierof teN 

 )196,474(  340,900,1   )ssol(/emocni tnemtsevni latoT 
        

Expenses 
 )098,823(  )116,582(  7 seef tnemeganaM
 )649,65(  )129,79(  01 esnepxe xat gnidlohhtiW
 )277,15(  )491,94(  7 seef noitartsinimda dna ydotsuC
 )893,14(  )092,64(   sesnepxe lareneg rehtO
 )600,5(  )057,3(  7 seef ’srotceriD

 )210,484(  )667,284(   sesnepxe latoT 
        

   raey eht rof )ssoL(/tiforP $ 526,277 $ (958,703)

        

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

    

Redeemable  
Share 

Capital  
Share 

Premium
Retained  
Earnings   Total 

Balance as at December 31, 2014 $ 1,658   14,825,199  1,906,004   $ 16,732,861   
Total comprehensive income 

for the year 
Loss for the year - - (958,703)   (958,703)   
Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in equity 
Contributions and redemptions to 

  sredloherahs
Issue of Class A Shares  499 5,155,421   - 5,155,920 

  Redemption of Class A Shares  (211)   (2,166,036)   -   (2,166,247) 
Total transactions with owners  288 2,989,385 - 2,989,673 

Balance as at December 31, 2015 $ 1,946   17,814,584   947,301   $ 18,763,831 
Total comprehensive income for the year  
Profit for the year - - 526,277     526,277 
Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in equity 
Contributions and redemptions to 

  sredloherahs
Issue of Class A Shares  279 2,616,499 - 2,616,778 

  Redemption of Class A Shares  (506) (4,739,203) -   (4,739,709) 
Total transactions with owners  (227) (2,122,704) - (2,122,931) 

Balance as at December 31, 2016 $ 1,719 15,691,880 1,473,578 $ 17,167,177 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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     2016  2015 

Cash flows from operating activities 
 )307,859( $ 772,625 $ raey eht rof )ssoL(/tiforP

Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) to net cash provided by/ 
 (used in) operating activities: 

 )980,661,51(  )500,411,31(  stnemtsevni fo esahcruP 
 Proceeds from sale of invest 6,430,41  stnem 95  13,167,986 
 Net realised loss on financial assets 
        at fair value through profit or loss  441,473  44,463 
 Change in net unrealised (gain)/loss on financial assets 
             at fair value through profit or loss  (1,113,999)  917,135 
Change in operating assets and liabilities: 
 Dividends receivable  (9,063)  7,097 
 Other assets  122  (7) 
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses  (173,319)  181,924 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  592,181  (1,806,194) 
       

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from subscriptions of Cla 16,2  serahS A ss 6,778  5,155,920 
Payments on redemptions of Class A Shares  (4,738,614)  (2,167,959) 

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities  (2,121,836)  2,987,961 
       

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (1,529,655)  1,181,767 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  074,047  732,229,1  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  732,229,1 $ 285,293 $ 
       

Supplemental information 
 022,484 $ 933,803 $ deviecer sdnediviD
 649,65 $ 129,79 $  diap sexaT

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

1. Incorporation and principal activity 

BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC (the “Company”) was incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company and 
registered as a segregated portfolio company under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on July 11, 
2006. The Company registered under the Mutual Funds Law of the Cayman Islands on November 21, 2006. The 
address of its registered office is Appleby Trust (Cayman) Ltd., Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, 
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.   

The Company established BIAS Global Equities Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio (the “Fund”), a segregated 
portfolio of assets, on December 15, 2006. The Fund commenced operations on December 29, 2006.   

At December 31, 2016, the Company has four segregated portfolios, namely, the Fund, BIAS Global Balanced 
Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio, BIAS Short Duration Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio, and the 
BIAS Global Dividend Income Fund – US$ Segregated Portfolio. Additional segregated portfolios may be 
established by the Company in the future at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. As a matter of 
Cayman Islands law, the assets of one segregated portfolio will not be available to meet the liabilities of 
another. However, the Company is a single legal Fund which may operate or have assets held on its behalf or be 
subject to claims in other jurisdictions which may not necessarily recognise such segregation. 

The Fund’s Class A shares are listed on the Cayman Islands Stock Exchange and the Bermuda Stock Exchange. 

The Fund is a segregated portfolio and a separate individually managed pool of assets constituting, in effect, a 
separate fund with its own investment objective. The assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the Company 
or other segregated portfolios are not included in these financial statements. BIAS Asset Management Ltd. (the 
“Investment Manager”), a related party through common directors, acts as the Fund’s Investment Manager 
under the Investment Management Agreement. The Investment Manager has entered into an agreement to 
delegate its duties to Bermuda Investment Advisory Services Limited (the “Sub-Manager”). BIAS (Cayman) 
Ltd. and Comerica Bank (the “Custodians”) act as the Fund’s custodians, and Cayman National Fund Services 
Ltd. (the “Administrator”) acts as the Fund’s administrator. 

Assets are identified as either general Company or Segregated Portfolio assets. Those attributable to a 
segregated portfolio comprise assets representing the total equity attributable to the segregated portfolio and 
other assets attributable to or held within that segregated portfolio. They are held separately from, and are not 
comingled with, assets of the other segregated portfolios noted above. The general assets of the Company 
comprise a cash balance of $1, representing the amount received upon issuance of the Ordinary Shares (see 
Note 8). As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the general assets are not presented separately on the statement of 
financial position due to immateriality. No income or expenses have been attributed to the general assets to 
date. 

The objective of the Fund is to achieve its goal by investing in a wide variety of global equity securities issued 
throughout the world. The Investment Manager and Sub-Manager manage the Fund as a core global equity 
product and are not constrained by a particular investment style. It may invest in growth or value securities. The 
Investment manager and Sub-manager choose securities in industries and companies they believe are 
experiencing favourable demand for their products or services. 

2. Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. The 
accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the period and are consistent with prior year. 

(a) Basis of preparation 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”). 

95



BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
GLOBAL EQUITIES FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (a) Basis of preparation (continued) 

The financial statements are presented in United States (“US”) dollars, which is also the Fund’s functional 
currency, and not the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Fund’s issued share 
capital, assets and liabilities are denominated in US dollars. 

The statement of financial position presents assets and liabilities in decreasing order of liquidity and do not 
distinguish between current and non-current items. All of the Fund’s assets and liabilities are held for the 
purpose of being traded or are expected to be realised within one year. 

These financial statements are prepared on a fair value basis for financial assets and liabilities held at fair 
value through profit or loss. Other financial assets and liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities are 
stated at amortised cost or redemption amount which is considered to approximate fair value due to the 
short-term nature of these assets and liabilities. 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 
January 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. The Fund does not plan to 
adopt early. 

(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9, published in July 2014, will replace the existing guidance in IAS 39. It includes revised 
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new expected 
credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge accounting 
requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial 
instruments from IAS 39. 

IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early 
adoption permitted. Based on the initial assessment, this standard is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Fund. 

 (b) Investment income and expense 

Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date and is reported gross of withholding tax and the 
corresponding withholding tax is recognised as a tax expense. Bank interest income and expense is 
accounted for on the accrual basis.  

(c) Financial assets and liabilities  

(i) Classification  
In accordance with IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, all investments 
are classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, under the sub-
category of financial assets and liabilities held for trading. 

Financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables include cash and cash equivalents, other 
assets and dividends receivable. Financial liabilities that are not at fair value through profit or loss 
are carried at amortised cost and include accounts payable and redemptions payable. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

(ii) Recognition/derecognition 
Purchases and sales of investments are initially recognised on the trade date – the date on which the 
Fund commits to purchase or sell the investment. Other financial assets and liabilities are recognised 
on the date the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

Investments and other financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the investments have expired or the Fund has transferred all risks and rewards of ownership. The 
Fund derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expired. 

Gains and losses on the disposal of financial assets and liabilities are computed on a first-in, first-out 
basis (“FIFO”) and are included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which 
they arise within net realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
Movements in unrealised gains and losses on financial assets are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income within change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

(iii) Measurement 
 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, 

with transaction costs recognised in profit or loss. Other financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or 
issue. ‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its 
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Fund has access at that date.  

 Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss category are presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  

 Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost, less impairment 
losses, if any. 

(iv) Fair value measurement principles 
The Fund’s investments are valued on Friday of each week and at each month-end (the “Valuation 
Date”). In accordance with IFRS 13, for those financial assets and liabilities, at fair value through 
profit and loss, which have a quoted price in an active market, the Fund uses the last traded price in 
cases where the last traded price falls within the bid-ask spread. Where the last traded price falls 
outside the bid-ask spread, the bid price is used for long securities and the ask price for securities 
held short. There were no listed financial equity instruments for which quotations were not readily 
available in active markets on a recognised public stock exchange during any of the periods 
presented. 

The fair value of mutual funds and hedge funds are based on the net asset value of the Fund’s 
investment in those underlying funds as published or otherwise reported by the underlying 
administrators. The mutual funds and hedge funds in which the Fund invests will generally value 
securities on a national securities exchange or reported on a national market at the last reported sales 
price on the day of valuation. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

(v) Identification and measurement of impairment 
A financial asset not classified at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset is impaired if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that loss event had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset that can be estimated reliably. 

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income when incurred. Interest on impaired assets continues to be 
recognised. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease 
in impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income. There are no 
impairments for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

(vi)  Offsetting 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Fund has a legal right to offset the amounts and it 
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis for gains and losses from financial instruments at 
fair through profit or loss and foreign exchange gains and losses. There is no offsetting in the 
statement of financial position at December 31, 2016. 

(vii) Involvement with unconsolidated structured entities 
The Fund has concluded that hedge funds, in which it invests, but that it does not consolidate, meet 
the definition of structured entities because:  

voting rights in the hedge funds are not dominant rights in deciding who controls them because 
they relate to administrative tasks only; 

each hedge fund's activities are restricted by its prospectus; and 

the hedge funds have narrow and well-defined objectives to provide investment opportunities to 
investors. 

(d) Operating expenses 

The Fund is responsible for all normal operating expenses including audit fees, stamp and other duties and 
charges incurred on the acquisition and realisation of investments. All expenses are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income on the accruals basis. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include money market investments, and balances held with the investment 
broker with maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in their fair value. Money market funds are valued at the net asset value as provided by the 
managers of the underlying funds.  

(f) Share capital 

The Fund classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments. 

Ordinary Shares are classified as share capital of the Company. The Class A Shares are the most 
subordinate class of financial instruments in the Fund.  The Class A Shares provide investors with the right 
to require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Fund’s net assets at 
each weekly redemption date and also in the event of the Fund’s liquidation. 

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligation for the Fund to repurchase or redeem 
that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as equity, if it meets all of the following 
conditions: 

it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net assets in the event of the Fund’s 
liquidation;

it is in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;

all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of 
instruments have identical features;

apart from the contractual obligation for the Fund to repurchase or redeem the instrument for 
cash or another financial asset, the instrument does not include any other features that would 
require classification as a liability; and

the total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based substantially on 
the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change in the fair value of the 
recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Fund over the life of the instrument.

The Fund’s Class A Shares meet these conditions and are classified as equity. 

When Class A Shares recognised as equity are redeemed, the par value of the shares is presented as a 
deduction from redeemable share capital. Any premium or discount to par value is recognised as an 
adjustment to share premium, or if insufficient to retained earnings. Redemptions payable are classified as 
financial liabilities and are measured at the present value of the redemption amounts. 

 (g) Foreign currency  

Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than US dollars are translated at exchange rates 
prevailing at the year-end date. Transactions in other currencies during the year are translated to US dollars 
at the rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. The resulting profits or losses are disclosed in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (g) Foreign currency (continued)  

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign exchange 
loss, except for those arising on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are 
recognised as a component of net realised loss on sale or change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

 (h) Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
Management does not believe that the estimates and assumptions have a significant risk of causing material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

3. Cash and cash equivalents 
      2016  2015 

 31 $ 999,2 $   rekorb ta hsaC
Money market funds held at broker    389,583  1,922,224 

   latoT $ 392,582 $ 1,922,237 
        

4. Interest income 

2016 2015 
                    

  Interest income on financial assets carried at amortised cost:  
Cash and cash equivalents                  231                  110  

               $             231     $             110  

5. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

The following tables summarise financial assets and liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss as at 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the related changes as presented in the statements of financial position and 
comprehensive income: 

tsoC      6102 Fair value

Financial assets held for trading: 
  900,308,61 $ 529,703,51 $   seitiruces ytiuqE  

         

 900,308,61 $ 529,703,51 $   latoT
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5. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

tsoC      5102 Fair value

Financial assets held for trading:  
  371,150,71 $ 880,076,61 $   seitiruces ytiuqE  

         

 371,150,71 $ 880,076,61 $   latoT
        

 5102  6102   

Net realised loss on sale of financial assets  
    at fair value through profit or loss: 
  Equity securities, mutual funds and hedge funds $ (441,473) $ (44,463) 

Change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets  
 at fair value through profit or loss: 

 )152,933( $ - $ sdnuf lautuM  
 274,412  -  sdnuf egdeH  
 )653,297(  999,311,1  seitiruces ytiuqE  

   
 Total $ 1,113,999 $ (917,135) 

        

The net realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represents the difference 
between the acquisition price, or the carrying amount of a financial instrument and its sale/settlement price. 

The change in net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit and loss represents the 
difference between the acquisition price, or carrying amount of the respective financial instrument at the 
beginning of the period, and its carrying amount at the end of the period.  

6. Fair values of financial instruments 

The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in measuring fair value: 

Level 1: Inputs are unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the reporting Fund has the ability to access at the valuation date. An active market for the asset or 
liability is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency 
and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  
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6. Fair values of financial instruments (continued) 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. Fair value is determined through the use of models or other 
valuation methodologies. Level 2 inputs include the following: 

a) Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets.  

b) Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, that is, 
markets in which there are few transactions for the asset or liability, the prices are not current, 
or price quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers, or in which 
little information is released publicly. 

c) Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (e.g. interest rate 
and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, volatilities, prepayment speeds, 
loss severities, credit risks and default rates). 

d) Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 
correlation or other means. 

Level 3: Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs reflect the Fund’s own 
assumptions about how market participants would be expected to value the asset or liability. 
Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances, 
other than market data obtained from sources independent of the Fund and might include the 
Fund’s own data. 

An investment is always categorised as Level 1, 2 or 3 in its entirety. In certain cases, the fair 
value measurement for an investment may use a number of different inputs that fall into different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment’s level within the fair value 
hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires 
judgment and is specific to the investment. 

The following table analyses, under the fair value hierarchy, the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value at December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

 latoT 3 leveL 2 leveL 1 leveL 6102
Financial assets 
Money market funds $ 389,583 $ –    $ –    $ 389,583 

Equity securities: 
 United States  16,803,009  –      –     16,803,009 

 Total equity securities  16,803,009  –     –     16,803,009 

$ 17,192,592 $ –    $ –    $ 17,192,592 
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6.  Fair values of financial instruments (continued) 

 latoT 3 leveL 2 leveL 1 leveL 5102
Financial assets 
Money market funds $ 1,922,224 $ –    $ –    $ 1,922,224 

Equity securities: 
 United States  16,622,463  –     –     16,622,463 

 017,824     –     –  017,824  learsI 

 Total equity securities  17,051,173  –     –     17,051,173 

 $18,973,397 $ –    $ –    $ 18,973,397 

 There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund’s assets and liabilities (by class) not 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss at December 31, 2016 and 2015 but for which fair value is 
disclosed. 

 latoT  3 leveL  2 leveL  1 leveL  
2016 
Assets

 999,2 $    – $    – $ 999,2 $  hsaC
Dividends receivable  –     12,454  –     12,454 
Other assets  –     5,570  –     5,570 

 320,12 $    – $ 420,81 $ 999,2 $ latoT
         

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and 
 accrued expenses $ –    $ 44,156 $ –    $ 44,156 
Redemptions payable  –     2,282  –     2,282 

 834,64 $    – $ 834,64 $    – $ latoT
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6. Fair values of financial instruments (continued) 

 latoT  3 leveL  2 leveL  1 leveL  
2015 
Assets

 31 $    – $    – $ 31 $  hsaC
Dividends receivable  –     3,391  –     3,391 
Other assets  –     5,692  –     5,692 

 690,9 $    – $ 380,9 $ 31 $ latoT
         

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and 
 accrued expenses $ –    $ 217,475 $ –    $ 217,475 
Redemptions payable  –     1,187  –     1,187 

 266,812 $    – $ 266,812 $    – $ latoT
         

The assets and liabilities in the table above are carried at amortised cost; their carrying values are a reasonable 
approximation of fair value, due to their short term nature. 

Dividends receivable and other assets that are classified in Level 2 include other obligations due to the Fund. 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses and redemptions payable represent the contractual amounts and 
obligations due by the Fund for settlement of trades and expenses. 

7. Fees and expenses

Management fees 
The Investment Manager of the Fund is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Fund, including 
managing the investment portfolio, providing investment analysis and making decisions relating to the 
investment of assets of the Fund. The Fund is responsible for the payment of a management fee to the 
Investment Manager for its services to the Fund equal to 1.55% per annum (2015: 1.80%) of the Net Asset 
Value (“NAV”) of the Fund, calculated weekly and payable monthly in arrears, effective September 2016. 
Between March 31, 2016 and September 30, 2016 the rate was 1.65% per annum. Prior to March 31, 2016 the 
rate was 1.80% per annum. During the year ended December 31, 2016, management fees totalled $285,611 
(2015: $328,890). As at December 31, 2016, management fees payable totalled $23,032 (2015: $28,862) and 
were included within accounts payable and accrued expenses on the statement of financial position. The 
Investment Manager compensates the Sub-Manager for performing its delegated duties. 

Administration fees 
The Administrator is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the weekly NAV of the 
Fund, and subject to an annual minimum fee of $30,000.  The administration fee is calculated weekly and is 
payable monthly in arrears. Administration fees for the year ended December 31, 2016 totalled $32,000 (2015: 
$32,000). 

104



BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
GLOBAL EQUITIES FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

7. Fees and expenses (continued)

The Administrator and the Investment Manager are reimbursed by the Fund for other fees and expenses that are 
identifiable with the Fund. 

Custody fees 
BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. is entitled to receive fees amounting to 0.10% per annum based on the average weekly 
NAV of the Fund. The custody fee is calculated weekly and payable monthly in arrears. Custody fees for the 
year ended December 31, 2016 totalled $17,194 (2015: $18,272). 

Directors’ fees 
Each Director who is not an officer or employee of the Investment Manager or Sub-Manager receives a flat 
annual fee for serving in such capacity. The fee will be in accordance with reasonable and customary Directors’ 
fees. The Directors are entitled to reimbursement from the Fund for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred by them on behalf of the Fund. 

8. Share capital 

The Company has an authorised share capital as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 of $50,001 divided into 100 
Ordinary Shares of $0.01 par value each and 5,000,000 non-voting, Redeemable Participating Shares of $0.01 
par value each divided upon issue into Classes for each of the segregated portfolio funds. The Ordinary Shares 
of the Company are owned by the Investment Manager, and are the only shares of the Company with voting 
rights. The Company has authorised the issuance of up to 1,000,000 Class A Shares in the Fund.

The issued share capital of the Company and Fund is as follows: 

 5102 6102  
Number Par Value 

(US$) 
Number Par Value 

(US$) 
     

Issued and fully paid: 
Company 
Ordinary Shares 100 1 100 1

      
Fund
Class A Shares 

Balance at beginning of year 
Issued during the year 
Redeemed during the year 

194,587 
27,917 

(50,566) 

1,946 
279 

(506) 

165,765 
49,914 

 (21,092) 

1,658 
499 

 (211) 
 649,1 785,491 917,1 839,171 raey fo dne ta ecnalaB

Each Class A Share represents a beneficial interest in the Fund ranking equally in all distributions when and as 
declared payable. An unlimited number of the Fund’s shares may be issued which are redeemable each Monday 
and at such other times as the Directors may determine in their discretion at the shareholders’ option at the then 
current NAV per share, in accordance with the terms of the Information Memorandum. 
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8. Share capital (continued) 

Notwithstanding the redeemable shareholders’ rights to redemptions above, the Fund has the right, as set out in 
its Information Memorandum, to impose a redemption gate limit of 5% of the Class A Shares of the Fund or 
$100,000 in any redemption period in order to manage redemption levels and maintain the strength of the 
Fund’s capital base. 

In addition, no sales will be permitted within the first 90 days from initial purchase and a redemption fee of 2% 
will be assessed on Class A Shares redeemed within 12 months after their date of purchase and 1% on Class A 
Shares redeemed beyond 12 months, subject to a minimum fee of $25 per redemption request. The redemption 
fee will be shared equally between the Investment Manager and the Fund, and may be waived at the discretion 
of the Directors. 

The holders of the Ordinary Shares have a right to receive notice of, attend and vote as members at any general 
meeting of the Company. The Ordinary Shares are not entitled to dividends nor do they participate in the profits 
of neither the Company nor the Fund. On a liquidation of the Company, the general assets of the Company, 
being the assets of the Company which are not assets of the Segregated Portfolios, shall be available for 
distribution to the holders of the Ordinary Shares pro rata according to the number of Ordinary Shares held by 
them. The Ordinary Shares are held by the Investment Manager. 

The holders of the Class A Shares are not entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote as members at any 
general meeting of the Company. Holders of the Class A Shares are entitled to receive dividends and participate 
in the profits of the Fund. On a liquidation of the Fund, the holders of the Class A Shares have a right to 
participate in the surplus assets of the Fund after the payment of all creditors.  

9. Income taxes 

The Cayman Islands at present impose no taxes on profit, income, capital gains or appreciation in value of the 
Fund. In the event that such taxes are levied, the Company has received an undertaking from the Governor-in-
Cabinet of Cayman Islands exempting it from all such taxes until July 25, 2026. As such, no provision for such 
taxes is included in the accompanying financial statements. 

The Fund may, however, be subject to foreign withholding tax and capital gains tax in certain jurisdictions in 
respect of income derived from its investments. 

10. Financial instruments and associated risks 

The Fund is exposed to a variety of financial risks in pursuing its stated investment objective and policy. These 
risks are defined in IFRS 7 as including market risk (which in turn includes price, interest rate and currency 
risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The Fund takes exposure to certain of these risks to generate investment 
returns on its portfolio, although these risks can also potentially result in a reduction in the Fund’s net assets. 
The Investment Manager will use its best endeavours to minimise the potential adverse effects of these risks on 
the Fund’s performance where it can do so while still managing the investments of the Fund in a way that is 
consistent with the Fund’s investment objective and policy.  
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks 

The risks, and the measures adopted by the Fund for managing these risks, are detailed below. 

(a) Price risk  

Market price risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or its future 
cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 

The Fund’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of mutual funds and equity securities, 
the values of which are determined by market forces and there is accordingly a risk that market prices can 
change in a way that is adverse to the Fund’s performance. An increase or decrease of 100 basis points in 
the prices of mutual funds and equity securities, with all other variables remaining constant, as at the 
reporting date would have increased or decreased the net assets by $168,030 (2015: $170,512).

In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s positions on a daily 
basis and reports regularly to the Directors, which reviews the information on the Fund’s overall market 
exposures provided by the Investment Manager at its periodic meetings. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the overall market exposures and concentration of risk are limited to 
the amounts presented in the statement of financial position.

(b) Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. 

The Fund’s cash and cash equivalents are the only interest bearing instruments. The Fund’s other financial 
assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing. 

The Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk is detailed in the table below: 

 tseretni-noN tseretnI  
 latoT gniraeb gniraeb 6102

Cash and cash equivalents $ 392,582 $ –    $ 392,582 
Financial assets at fair value through 

 900,308,61  900,308,61     –  ssol ro tiforp   
 075,5  075,5     –  stessa rehtO
 454,21  454,21     –  elbaviecer sdnediviD

Accounts payable and accrued expenses                                –     (44,156)  (44,156) 
  Redemptions payable                                                              –     (2,282)  (2,282) 

 771,761,71 $ 595,477,61 $ 285,293 $ latoT
        

107



BIAS Global Portfolios, SPC
GLOBAL EQUITIES FUND – US$ Segregated Portfolio

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2016  |  (EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

(b) Interest rate risk (continued) 

Interest Non-interest 
 gniraeb 5102 bearing Total 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,922,237 $ –    $ 1,922,237 
Financial assets at fair value through 

 371,150,71  371,150,71     –  ssol ro tiforp   
 296,5  296,5     –  stessa rehtO
 193,3  193,3     –  elbaviecer sdnediviD

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  –     (217,475)  (217,475) 
Redemptions payable                                                             –     (1,187)  (1,187) 

 138,367,81 $ 495,148,61 $ 732,229,1 $ latoT
        

Should the cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 2016, be held for a period of 12 months, an 
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables remaining constant, would 
have increased or decreased the net assets by $3,926 (2015: $19,222). 

(c) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Fund holds assets denominated in currencies other than US dollars, the functional currency of the 
Fund. The Fund is therefore exposed to currency risk, as the value of the securities denominated in other 
currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates.

The fair values of the Fund’s total exposure to foreign currency and securities denominated in foreign 
currencies at December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 

  2016  2015 

 31 $ 31 $  ralloD naidanaC

 31 $ 31 $  latoT
      

The Fund’s net assets would increase or decrease by Nil (2015: Nil) if the US dollar weakened or 
strengthened, respectively, by 100 basis points against the other currencies with all other variables 
remaining constant. 

(d) Other price risk 

The Investment Manager monitors the concentration of risk for equity securities based on counterparties 
and industries [and geographic location as discussed in Note 6]. The Fund’s equity investments are 
concentrated in the following industries. 
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

(d) Other price risk (continued) 

The Fund’s equity securities are concentrated in the following industries: 

Investments in equity securities by industry                Year Ended December 31  
 5102 6102

 %     %            

  Communications            1,880,150        11.2         2,073,446      12.2  
  Consumer, Cyclical               172,200          1.0            831,817        4.9  
  Consumer, Non-cyclical               531,081          3.2         1,691,485        9.9  
  Energy               410,337          2.4                      -           -   
  Financial            2,843,204        16.9         2,202,072      12.9  
  Funds            9,133,774        54.4         8,443,237      49.5  
Healthcare     395,927 2.3                      -           -   

  Industrial               481,827          2.9                      -           -   
  Technology               954,509          5.7         1,809,116      10.6  

                 16,803,009      100.0         17,051,173    100.0  

(e) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Fund’s financial assets are greater than the financial liabilities and 
the assets held are liquid in nature. All liabilities are expected to mature within twelve months of the 
reporting date. As such, the Fund’s management does not anticipate any material losses as a result of 
liquidity risk.  

    
 eerht ot enO naht sseL 

 latoT shtnom htnom eno 6102

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ –    $ 44,156 $ 44,156 
 282,2     –  282,2  elbayap snoitpmedeR

 834,64 $ 651,44 $ 282,2 $ seitilibail latoT
               

 eerht ot enO naht sseL 
 latoT shtnom htnom eno 5102

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ –    $ 217,475 $ 217,475 
 781,1     –  781,1  elbayap snoitpmedeR

 266,812 $ 574,712 $ 781,1 $ seitilibail latoT
               

As described in Note 8 to the financial statements, the Fund’s Class A Shares are redeemable at the 
shareholder’s option on a weekly basis, and therefore the Fund is potentially exposed to weekly 
redemptions by its shareholders. 
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10. Financial instruments and associated risks (continued) 

 (f) Credit risk 

Credit risk is defined in IFRS 7 as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss 
for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation or commitment that it has entered into with the 
fund.

The majority of the Fund’s financial assets are held with Comerica Bank, which is rated “A3” (2015: “A3”) 
based on rating agency Moody’s ratings. Management regularly monitors the institution’s credit risk and 
does not anticipate any significant losses from this concentration.  

The Fund’s maximum credit exposure at the reporting date is $410,606 (2015: $1,931,320) which is the 
sum of the cash and cash equivalents, dividends receivable and other assets as reported in the statement of 
financial position. 

(g) Regulatory environment risk 

A changing regulatory environment, including, but not limited to, changes in relevant tax laws, securities 
laws, bankruptcy laws or accounting standards, may make the business of the Fund less profitable or 
unprofitable. The ability of the Fund to carry on business from the Cayman Islands or as a Cayman Islands 
Fund will depend upon its initial and continuing compliance with the relevant provisions of Cayman 
Islands law and, in particular, the Mutual Funds Law. Management regularly monitors the institution’s 
regulatory environment risk and does not anticipate any significant changes relevant to the Fund.

(h) Dependence on the Investment Manager risk 

The Investment Manager is responsible for investing the assets of the Fund. The success of the Fund 
depends upon the ability of the Investment Manager to develop and implement investment strategies that 
achieve the Fund’s investment objectives.  

11. Capital risk management 

At December 31, 2016 the Fund had $17,167,177 (2015: $18,763,831) of redeemable share capital classified as 
equity. The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets of the Fund. The net assets can change 
significantly on a weekly basis as the Fund is subject to weekly subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion 
of the Directors. The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for holders of Class A Shares and benefits for other stakeholders and 
to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the Fund. The 
Fund’s policies with respect to managing its capital risk are discussed in Note 8 above. There were no changes 
in the policies and procedures during the year with respect to the Fund’s approach to its redeemable share 
capital management. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Fund’s policy is to monitor the level of weekly 
subscriptions and redemptions relative to the liquid assets and adjust the amount of distributions the Fund pays 
to holders of Class A Shares accordingly.  

The Directors and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets . 

The Fund is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
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12. Related party transactions 

As at December 31, 2016, the Directors of the Fund held 1,821 (2015: 1,858) Class A Shares in the Fund. As at 
December 31, 2016, persons or entities related to the Directors, the Investment Manager, or the Sub-Manager 
held 10.85% (2015: 8.68%) of the Class A Shares in the Fund. 

BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. earns trade commission revenue based on trades executed within the Fund’s normal course 
of business. For the year ended December 31, 2016 the total trade commissions earned amounted to $124,643. 
Commissions are calculated by BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. based on gross trade amount and security type. BIAS 
(Cayman) Ltd. also earns custody fees as previously described in Note 7. 

Management fees, commission fees, custody fees and Directors fees are considered related party transactions 
and are discussed in Note 7 above. 

BIAS (Cayman) Ltd. and the Sub-manager are related to the Fund by virtue of common control. As of 
December 31, 2016 the Fund held no investments in unconsolidated structured entities. 

13.  Subsequent events 

From January 1, 2017 through May 8, 2017 the Fund received subscriptions of $9,058,911 and paid 
redemptions of $1,930,909. 

Effective January 1, 2017 the Company appointed Beacon Fund Services (Cayman) Ltd. as the Fund’s 
Administrator, replacing Cayman National Fund Services Ltd. One of the directors of Beacon Fund Services 
(Cayman) Ltd. is also a director of the Fund. 
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Mission Statement
The entire BIAS sta� is committed to exacting ethical standards and professional conduct 
as dictated by the CFA institute.

As a team, we pledge to add value by anticipating and addressing client needs proactively 
and by providing consistent and exceptional customer service. 

In a time when investors are overwhelmed by the vast amount of information available, we 
consider our responsibility at BIAS to bring clarity to our clients so that they can achieve 
the ultimate goal of �nancial independence.  

Bermuda
Bermuda Investment Advisory Services Limited
Wessex House, 1st Floor
45 Reid Street
Hamilton, HM12
Bermuda
T: (441) 292-4292
F: (441) 292-7292
E-mail: info@bias.bm
www.biasglobalportfolios.com

Cayman
BIAS (Cayman) Ltd.
4th Floor, Piccadilly Centre, 28 Elgin Avenue
P.O. Box 30862
George Town, Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands
T: (345) 943-0003
F: (345) 943-0004
E-mail: info@bias.ky
www.biasglobalportfolios.com

Licensed by the Cayman Islands Monetary
Authority to conduct investment business.

Registered Advisor with the U.S Securities & Exchange Commission
Licensed to Conduct Investment Business by The Bermuda Monetary Authority
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